
 

 

 
 
 

Council 
 
 
 

Wednesday 16 June 2021 

2.00 pm 
 
Ponds Forge International Sports 
Centre, Sheaf Street, Sheffield, S1 
2BP 
 

The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend – Please see “PUBLIC 
ACCESS TO THE MEETING” below, for details of how to access the 
meeting, and the safety measures which will apply. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

COUNCIL 

 

Wednesday 16 June 2021, at 2.00 pm 
 
 

MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

THE LORD MAYOR (Councillor Gail Smith) 
THE DEPUTY LORD MAYOR (Councillor Sioned-Mair Richards) 

 

1 Beauchief & Greenhill Ward 10 East Ecclesfield Ward 19 Nether Edge & Sharrow Ward 
 Simon Clement-Jones 

Richard Shaw 
Sophie Thornton 
 

 Vic Bowden 
Moya O'Rourke 
Alan Woodcock 
 

 Peter Garbutt 
Maroof Raouf 
Alison Teal 

2 Beighton Ward 11 Ecclesall Ward 20 Park & Arbourthorne Ward 
 Bob McCann 

Chris Rosling-Josephs 
Ann Woolhouse 
 

 Roger Davison 
Barbara Masters 
Shaffaq Mohammed 
 

 Ben Miskell 
Jack Scott 
Sophie Wilson 

3 Birley Ward 12 Firth Park Ward 21 Richmond Ward 
 Denise Fox 

Bryan Lodge 
Karen McGowan 
 

 Abdul Khayum 
Alan Law 
Abtisam Mohamed 
 

 David Barker 
Mike Drabble 
Dianne Hurst 
 

4 Broomhill & Sharrow Vale Ward 13 Fulwood Ward 22 Shiregreen & Brightside Ward 
 Angela Argenzio 

Brian Holmshaw 
Kaltum Rivers 

 Sue Alston 
Andrew Sangar 
Cliff Woodcraft 
 

 Dawn Dale 
Peter Price 
Garry Weatherall 
 

5 Burngreave Ward 14 Gleadless Valley Ward 23 Southey Ward 
 Talib Hussain 

Mark Jones 
Safiya Saeed 
 

 Alexi Dimond 
Cate McDonald 
Paul Turpin 
 

 Mike Chaplin 
Tony Damms 
Jayne Dunn 
 

6 City Ward 15 Graves Park Ward 24 Stannington Ward 
 Douglas Johnson 

Ruth Mersereau 
Martin Phipps 

 Ian Auckland 
Sue Auckland 
Steve Ayris 
 

 Penny Baker 
Vickie Priestley 
Richard Williams 
 

7 Crookes & Crosspool Ward 16 Hillsborough Ward 25 Stocksbridge & Upper Don Ward 

 Tim Huggan 
Mohammed Mahroof 
Ruth Milsom 

 Christine Gilligan 
George Lindars-Hammond 
Josie Paszek 
 

 Lewis Chinchen 
Julie Grocutt 
Francyne Johnson 
 

8 Darnall Ward 17 Manor Castle Ward 26 Walkley Ward 
 Mazher Iqbal 

Mary Lea 
Zahira Naz 
 

 Terry Fox 
Anne Murphy 
Sioned-Mair Richards 
 

 Ben Curran 
Neale Gibson 
Bernard Little 
 

9 Dore & Totley Ward 18 Mosborough Ward 27 West Ecclesfield Ward 
 Joe Otten 

Colin Ross 
Martin Smith 
 

 Tony Downing 
Kevin Oxley 
Gail Smith 
 

 Alan Hooper 
Mike Levery 
Ann Whitaker 
 

    28 Woodhouse Ward 
     Mick Rooney 

Jackie Satur 
Paul Wood 
 

 



 

 

 
Contact: Paul Robinson, Democratic Services 
 paul.robinson@sheffield.gov.uk 
 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Council is composed of 84 Councillors with one-third elected three years in four. 
Councillors are democratically accountable to the residents of their Ward. The 
overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special 
duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for them 
 
All Councillors meet together as the Council. Here Councillors decide the Council’s 
overall policies and set the budget each year. The Council appoints the Leader and 
at its Annual Meeting will appoint Councillors to serve on its Committees.  It also 
appoints representatives to serve on joint bodies and external organisations.   
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=154. You may 
not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential information.  
These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to most 
Council meetings and recording is allowed under the direction of the Chair.  Please 
see the website or contact Democratic Services for further information regarding 
public questions and petitions and details of the Council’s protocol on audio/visual 
recording and photography at council meetings. 
 
Council meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the Council may 
have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked to leave.  Any 
private items are normally left until last.   
 
PLEASE NOTE: Meetings of the Council have to be held as physical meetings. 
While ever social distancing restrictions and other public health safety measures 
continue to apply, the meetings of the Council will be held at the Ponds Forge 
International Sports Centre as this venue can accommodate all 84 Members of the 
Council, plus officers and a limited number of members of the public within a safe 
indoor environment. 
 
If you would like to attend the meeting, you must register to attend by emailing 
committee@sheffield.gov.uk at least 2 clear days in advance of the date of the 
meeting.  This is necessary to facilitate the management of attendance at the 
meeting to maintain social distancing. In order to ensure safe access and to protect 
all attendees, you will be required to wear a face covering (unless you have an 
exemption) at all times within the venue. It is also recommended that you undertake 
a Covid-19 Rapid Lateral Flow Test within two days of the meeting. You can order 
tests online to be delivered to your home address, or you can collect tests from a 
local pharmacy or from the English Institute of Sport, Coleridge Road, Sheffield S9 
5DA. Further details of these tests and how to obtain them can be accessed here -
 Order coronavirus (COVID-19) rapid lateral flow tests - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

mailto:paul.robinson@sheffield.gov.uk
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=154
mailto:committee@sheffield.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/order-coronavirus-rapid-lateral-flow-tests
http://www.gov.uk/


 

 

 
We are unable to guarantee entrance to observers, as priority will be given to 
registered speakers.  
 
Alternatively, you can observe the meeting remotely by clicking on the ‘view the 
webcast’ link provided on the meeting page of the website. 
 
 

https://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=154


 

 

 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
16 JUNE 2021 

 
Order of Business 

 
1.   
 

WELCOME AND HOUSEKEEPING ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

2.   
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

3.   
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 
considered at the meeting. 
 

4.   
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS AND OTHER 
COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 To receive any questions or petitions from the public, or communications 
submitted by the Lord Mayor or the Chief Executive and to pass such 
resolutions thereon as the Council Procedure Rules permit and as may be 
deemed expedient. 
 
 
(NOTE: There is a time limit of one hour for the above item of business.  In 
accordance with the arrangements published on the Council’s website in 
relation to meetings of the Council held whilst social distancing restrictions 
and other public health safety measures still apply, questions/petitions are 
required to be submitted in writing, to committee@sheffield.gov.uk, by 
9.00 a.m. on Monday 14h June.) 
 
 

5.   
 

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
 

 5.1 Questions relating to urgent business – Council Procedure Rule 
16.6(ii). 

 
5.2 Supplementary questions on written questions submitted at this 

meeting – Council Procedure Rule 16.4. 
 
5.3 Questions on the discharge of the functions of the South Yorkshire 

Joint Authorities for Fire and Rescue and Pensions – Section 41 of 
the Local Government Act 1985 – Council Procedure Rule 16.6(i). 

 
 (NB. Minutes of recent meetings of the two South Yorkshire Joint 

Authorities have been made available to all Members of the Council 
via the following link - 

 http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13165&path=0) 
 

mailto:committee@sheffield.gov.uk
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13165&path=0


 

 

 
 

6.   
 

NOTICE OF MOTION REGARDING "PUTTING SHEFFIELD FIRST" - 
GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR TERRY FOX AND TO BE SECONDED BY 
COUNCILLOR JULIE GROCUTT 
 

 That this Council:- 
 
(a) recognises the incredible efforts that all staff, partner organisations, 

voluntary sector, local businesses, community groups and the 
people of Sheffield have made to get the city through the past 18 
months, and thanks everyone for their contribution; 

 
(b) notes that as the city moves out of lockdown, and continues to open 

up, it is essential that the Council takes action to secure the city’s 
recovery across a wide range of areas including support for jobs 
and the local economy, children and education, supporting people 
in financial hardship and the full reopening of Council services; 

 
(c) welcomes the plans to deliver on the following commitments:- 
 

(i) to introduce Local Area Committees, agreed by this Council 
in March, as a top priority, with the aim of establishing and 
embedding them within the Council, thus putting our 
communities at the heart of decision making and ensuring 
that Council services are responsive and accountable to the 
needs of our communities;  

 
(ii) delivering new investment in District Centres throughout the 

city to ensure their recovery and renewal, coupled with a 
wider programme of initiatives to support the re-opening of 
the city’s economy, such as the recently announced Summer 
in the Outdoor City Programme; 

 
(iii) investing in our young people through delivery of the 

Administration’s additional investment in youth services, 
following the service being brought back in-house; 

 
(iv) implementing the recommendations set out in the Arup 

report to create a pathway to deliver the shared ambition for 
net zero; 

 
(v) introducing a new approach to community safety, with 

additional safer neighbourhood wardens; and 
 

(vi) appointing an independent person to conduct a local inquiry 
into the management of the street trees dispute; 

 
(d) believes that the overriding priority of the Council, and the city as a 

whole, should be to put Sheffield first and work in the interests of 



 

 

the city and its people and welcomes the commitment of the new 
Administration to always Put Sheffield First; 

 
(e) believes that to meet the challenges the city faces it is important for 

Councillors to work together and co-operate across the city and that 
this is the responsible thing to do to provide the effective leadership 
and stability that the city needs from the Council going forward; and 

 
(f) notes that the Council will now begin a transition into new 

governance arrangements following the result of the governance 
referendum and welcomes the Council’s plans to introduce 
transitional committees to facilitate this change in governance and 
believes that they will be an important part of piloting this new way 
of working and supporting the organisation to put in place the best 
possible arrangements to deliver for Sheffield, working in an open, 
inclusive and democratic way. 

 
 

7.   
 

NOTICE OF MOTION REGARDING "TRUTH, TRUST AND 
TRANSPARENCY" - GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR SHAFFAQ MOHAMMED 
AND TO BE SECONDED BY COUNCILLOR BARBARA MASTERS 
 

 That this Council:- 
 
(a)  believes that local government is at its best when it operates on the 

principles of truth, trust and transparency; 
 
(b)  believes that the destruction of large numbers of healthy highway 

trees, the handling of the associated protests and the withholding of 
information has undermined public trust in the Council and that this 
trust must be rebuilt and restored; 

 
(c)  believes that a necessary step to rebuilding this trust is to hold an 

inquiry to ascertain the facts and make recommendations, and 
specifically that such an inquiry:- 

 
(i)  is fully held in public; 
 
(ii) is led by someone of the status of a retired judge, and who 

has a detailed understanding of public procurement; 
 
(iii) has access to all the council papers it requests; and 
 
(iv)  is able to question any council officers it believes 

appropriate; 
 
(d)  recommends that the Cooperative Executive commission such an 

inquiry to commence by September 2021 at the latest; 
 
(e)  calls on all current and past councillors and past council officers to 



 

 

co-operate with this inquiry; 
 
(f)  calls on partners, specifically Amey and South Yorkshire Police, to 

co-operate with this inquiry; and 
 
(g)  resolves to request the Cooperative Executive to publish the 

findings of this inquiry and act on its recommendations. 
 
 

8.   
 

NOTICE OF MOTION REGARDING "ACTION ON THE NATURE 
EMERGENCY" - GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR PETER GARBUTT AND TO 
BE SECONDED BY COUNCILLOR ANGELA ARGENZIO 
 

 That this Council:- 
  
(a) recognises our natural world is struggling from the impact of habitat 

degradation, urbanisation, consumerism, pollution, industrial 
agricultural and waste management practices and climate change – 
all contributing to widespread disruption to the survival and 
distribution of native species; 

  
(b) recognises and congratulates the excellent work by the Ecology 

Department, supported by the Parks and Countryside Service and 
partner organisations, being done on Species Specific Projects, as 
well as Landscape Projects, e.g. Urban Nature Parks and Nature 
Recovery Networks; and that, in addition, the Council defended the 
ecology of the Loxley River Valley by providing staff as key expert 
witnesses in a major planning inquiry, for the people of Sheffield; 

  
(c) in addition, congratulates and thanks all Council departments and 

employees working on projects and measures that protect and 
support nature, such as Sustainable Urban Drainage System work 
on Grey To Green projects, as well as organisations in Sheffield 
more broadly for their work, such as Hunter's Bar Infant School for 
their work on their green wall; 

  
(d) declares a nature emergency; 
  
(e) commits to developing a comprehensive Nature Emergency Action 

Plan (NEAP) for Sheffield, in association with partner organisations; 
 
(f) resolves that the plan will look to connect initiatives and unify the 

Council’s approach to biodiversity through the NEAP;  
 
(g) requests the Climate Change, Economy and Development 

Transitional Committee develop the NEAP with input from all 
departments within the Council, and providing the opportunity for 
relevant external partner organisations, businesses and community 
stakeholders to input and collaborate on initiatives where there are 
benefits to doing so, for example, a wildlife corridor could affect 



 

 

several departments including Transport, Housing and Parks; 
 
(h) recognises that co-operation and communication is key to the 

success of the Nature Emergency Action Plan and that, from the 
planning stage to implementation, monitoring and protecting, it is 
important for the Council to lead initiatives which address the 
Nature Emergency and have widespread support from the public 
and local campaign groups;  

 
(i) acknowledges the likely challenges to projects within the NEAP 

from developers under the current national planning guidelines 
which severely constrain proper consideration of the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency, and for this reason, it is imperative that this 
Council develops robust policies in the Local Plan which can help to 
protect and enhance biodiversity; and 

 
(j) requests that the Administration ensures relevant staff and all 

elected members will receive training on biodiversity net gain (BNG) 
- a vital aspect of the new Environment Bill. 

 
 

9.   
 

NOTICE OF MOTION REGARDING "MAKING SHEFFIELD EVEN 
SAFER FOR ALL" - GIVEN BY COUNCILLOR MARY LEA AND TO BE 
SECONDED BY COUNCILLOR SIONED-MAIR RICHARDS 
 

 That this Council:-  
 
(a) acknowledges with sadness the abduction and murder of Sarah 

Everard who was walking home after a quiet evening out at a 
friend’s house in South London; this incident led to widespread 
anger among women, many of whom spoke out about their own 
experiences of harassment and abuse when simply going about 
their daily lives; 

 
(b) believes Sheffield to be one of the safest of the largest cities and 

that we want all our residents to feel safe going about their daily 
lives in our city and we want all women and girls to feel safe and 
protected in their own homes, exercising and playing in our green 
spaces and socialising in our city centre and local communities; 

 
(c) notes that the third round of bidding is now underway for the 

Government’s Safer Streets Fund, and that the bids are being 
asked to focus on safety and feelings of safety in public places, 
particularly for women and girls;  

 
(d) welcomes the work and petition of Our Bodies, Our Streets, a 

student-led campaign in Sheffield which aims to end street 
harassment and improve public safety for women and marginalised 
genders; Safer Parks After Dark, their current project, aims to 
ensure that public spaces are welcoming and safe from street 



 

 

harassment through demanding safety interventions and initiating 
dialogue about this in our local communities; and the campaign has 
had talks with council members and officers in Sheffield and also in 
Rotherham; 

 
(e) welcomes the detailed work that has been undertaken by the 

Campaign Group to identify current issues as well as potential 
solutions that could be developed and a call to action based on best 
practice identified from other areas in the UK and internationally;  

 
(f) resolves to consult and work with the Office of the Police & Crime 

Commissioner, businesses, community, student and voluntary 
groups, both in the city and other local authorities, to prepare a bid 
for funding based around the proposals brought forward by Our 
Bodies, Our Streets, including:-  

 
(i) improve lighting in parks and other open spaces; and 
 
(ii) learn from any examples of best practice in other areas and 

countries which would improve and increase outdoor safety 
in this city; and 

 
(g) asks for a report to be brought forward which considers how local 

action can be taken, working across partners, to address the full 
range of ideas brought forward in Our Bodies, Our Streets’ call to 
action, setting out the city’s approach to safety in public places, 
noting the wider issues raised by the campaign including:- 

 
(i) greater work to tackle the root cause; systematic change is 

needed to tackle the culture of misogyny and public sexual 
harassment in the UK; 

 
(ii) ensuring genuine community consultation with women and 

marginalised gender groups is placed at the heart of decision 
making; 

 
(iii) learning from cities who have pioneered inclusive gender 

design; and 
 
(iv) greater recording of data around lived experience to 

generate evidence that can inform decision making. 
 
 

10.   
 

THE MAKING OF BROOMHILL, BROOMFIELD, ENDCLIFFE, 
SOMERFIELD AND TAPTON (BBEST) NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
 

 To approve, with or without amendment, the recommendations in the 
report of the Executive Director, Place, published with this agenda, on the 
result of the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan Referendum and to outline the 
steps to be taken in consequence of its outcome. 



 

 

 
11.   
 

TRANSITION TO A COMMITTEE SYSTEM OF GOVERNANCE 
 

 To approve, with or without amendment, the recommendations in the 
report (to follow) of the Director of Legal and Governance (Monitoring 
Officer) on the steps necessary for the establishment of a programme to 
enable the Council to transition to a Committee system of Governance 
from May 2022. 
 

12.   
 

UPDATED CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS 
 

 To approve, with or without amendment, the recommendations in the 
report of the Director of Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer), 
published with this agenda, recommending the Council to adopt an 
updated Members Code of Conduct following agreement by the Audit and 
Standards Committee on 25th March 2021. 
 

13.   
 

REPRESENTATION, DELEGATED AUTHORITY AND RELATED 
ISSUES 
 

 To consider any changes to the memberships and arrangements for 
meetings of Committees etc., delegated authority, and the appointment of 
representatives to serve on other bodies. 
 
 
 
 

 

Gillian Duckworth 
Director of Legal and Governance   
 
Dated this 8 day of June 2021 
 
 
The next ordinary meeting of the Council will be held on 7 July 2021 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

 participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

 participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 

 leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

 make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 
meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

 declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 
If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain, 
which you, or your spouse or civil partner undertakes. 
 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

 Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or 
a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority –  
 
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 2 

 

 Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

 

 Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a month 
or longer. 
 

 Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 

- the landlord is your council or authority; and  
- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a 

beneficial interest. 
 

 Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
your council or authority; and  
 

(b) either - 
- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 
 

 it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 
are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 

Page 14



 3 

Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously. 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Audit and 
Standards Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and 
Governance on 0114 2734018 or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 15

mailto:gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 

1 
 

 
 

 
Report of:   Executive Director, Place 
 

 
Date:    16th June 2021 
 

 
Subject:  The Making of Broomhill, Broomfield, Endcliffe, 

Somerfield and Tapton (BBEST) Neighbourhood Plan 
 

 
Author of Report:  Michael Johnson (Head of Planning) 
   Tel: 07769607537  
 

 
Summary:   
 
To report to the Council the result of the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan Referendum 
and to outline the steps to be taken in consequence of its outcome. 
 

 
Recommendations:  
 
That the Council: 

 
(a) notes the outcome of the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan Referendum; and 

 
(b) resolves to ‘make’ the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan such that it is adopted 

as a planning document as part of Sheffield’s Statutory Development Plan  
 

 
  

 

 
Background Papers:  BBEST Neighbourhood Plan  
 BBEST Neighbourhood Plan Draft Adoption Statement 
 

 
Category of Report: OPEN  

Report to Council 

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



 

2 
 

Statutory and Council Policy Checklist 
 

 
Financial & Commercial implications 

 

NO  - Cleared by Sarah Uttley  

 
Legal implications 

 

YES - Cleared by Portia Watkins 
 

Equality of Opportunity implications 

NO - cleared by Louise Nunn 
 

Tackling Health Inequalities implications 
 

N/A 
 

Human rights implications 
 

N/A 
 

Environmental and Sustainability implications 
 

N/A 
 

Economic impact 
 

N/A 
 

Community safety implications 
 

N/A 
 

Human resources implications 
 

N/A 
 

Property implications 
 

N/A 
 

Area(s) affected 

None 
 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee if decision called in 

N/A 
 

Is the item a matter which is reserved for approval by the City Council?   

YES 
 

Press release 
 

NO 
 

 
 

Page 18



 

3 
 

  
BBEST NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
REFERENDUM MAY 2021 

 

  
1. 
 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
1.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
2. 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform the Council of the result of the Broomhill, 
Broomfield, Endcliffe, Summerfield and Tapton (BBEST) Neighbourhood Plan 
Referendum and to outline the steps to be taken in consequence of its outcome. 
The report sets out the adoption stage of the process. 
 
Neighbourhood planning was introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  The Act 
introduced rights to enable communities to become directly involved in influencing 
planning and development in their areas by way of a neighbourhood plan. 
Neighbourhood plans are statutory planning documents which establish general 
planning policies for the development and use of land in a neighbourhood area. 
 
Once prepared, a plan is subject to public consultation and independent 
examination. Ultimately, a plan is subject to a local referendum.  Where a 
neighbourhood plan has a successful referendum (where more than half of those 
voting have voted in favour of the plan), and the Local Planning Authority is 
satisfied that all necessary statutory obligations have been met, there is a 
statutory requirement to ‘make’ the Plan and adopt it as part of the Statutory 
Development Plan.  
 
Once ‘made’ (adopted), the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan will be Sheffield’s first 
adopted neighbourhood plan. 
 
In 2017 Cabinet approved revised decision-making arrangements for 
neighbourhood planning (originally approved 18th December 2013) to allow the 
Council to meet new statutory timescales for decision making. This delegation 
was: that all decisions involving any aspect of the executive statutory function 
relating to neighbourhood planning be delegated to the Head of Planning, in 
consultation with the Director of Creative Sheffield.  Such delegated authority to 
be exercised in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member responsible for 
Planning. There are two caveats to this delegation however neither are relevant 
for this report.  
 
In accordance with this delegation the Head of Planning has consulted the 
Director of City Growth (which post was previously known as the Director of 
Creative Sheffield) and this delegation is exercised in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member for City Futures, Development, Culture and 
Regeneration.  
 
THE REFERENDUM 

  
2.1 On 6th May 2021, the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan was subject to a referendum 

within the designated BBEST Neighbourhood Area. 
  

Page 19



 

4 
 

2.2 The Referendum was held following receipt of the Independent Examiner’s Report 
in November 2020 which found that, subject to a number of modifications, the Plan 
met the ‘Basic Conditions’ (the statutory tests which neighbourhood plans are 
expected to meet) and therefore could proceed to a local referendum.  

  
2.3 The Referendum asked – 

 
“Do you want Sheffield City Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Broomhill, 
Broomfield, Endcliffe, Summerfield, and Tapton (BBEST) to help it decide planning 
applications in the Neighbourhood area?”  

  
2.4 There were 2543 votes in favour of the BBEST Plan and 224 votes against meaning 

that 91.9% of the valid votes cast, voted in favour of the Plan. Therefore, the 
outcome of the BBEST Plan Referendum was positive. 

  
2.5 There is a mandatory legal requirement by virtue of section 38A(4) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) that the Council must ‘make’ 
(adopt) a neighbourhood plan that has been approved at referendum, unless there 
are circumstances where adoption of the plan would breach, or otherwise be 
incompatible with, any EU or human rights obligations as provided by section 
61E(8) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

  
2.6 Officers are satisfied that the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan has met all of the 

statutory obligations and that the making (adoption) of the BBEST Neighbourhood 
Plan would not breach, nor would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation 
or any of the Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 
 

3. 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 

IMPLEMENTING THE OUTCOME 
 
Regulation 18A of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) requires Local Authorities to ‘make’ (adopt) a Neighbourhood Plan 
within 8 weeks of the day immediately following the referendum. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 3.3.3 of the Constitution, the function of making the 
BBEST Plan cannot be exercised solely by the Executive.  As a result, the BBEST 
Plan has been submitted by the Executive in accordance with the aforementioned 
Cabinet delegation to full Council for adoption. 
 
Following the ‘making’ of the Plan, the Council must comply with publicity 
requirements as set out in Regulation 19 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  A draft of the ‘Adoption Statement’ is 
set out as a background paper to this report. 

  
4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 The legal implications are set out in the body of the report.  To reiterate: the ‘making’ 

of the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan within the 8-week timescale in response to the 
positive referendum is a mandatory statutory requirement. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

5 
 

  
5. FINANCIAL AND COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
  
5.1 
 
5.2 

Upon adoption of the plan there are no known cost implications for the Council. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) place a duty 
on charging authorities to allocate at least 15% (up to a cap of £100 per existing 
council tax dwelling) of CIL receipts to spend on priorities that should be agreed 
with the local community in areas where development is taking place. This is 
known as the neighbourhood portion.  In accordance with regulation 59A (3) of 
the CIL regulations this increases to 25% where there is a neighbourhood 
development plan in place. 

  
6. EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
  
6.1 There are no equalities implications. 
  
7. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
7.1 That the Council: 
  
 (a) notes the outcome of the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan Referendum; and 

 
(b) resolves to ‘make’ the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan such that it is adopted as 

a planning document as part of Sheffield’s Statutory Development Plan  

  
  

 
 

 Michael Johnson 
 Head of Planning 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 1 

 
 
BROOMHILL, BROOMFIELD, 
ENDCLIFFE, SUMMERFIELD & TAPTON 
(BBEST) 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING FORUM 

 
 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
 
 
 

2021-2036 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REFERENDUM VERSION 
March 2021 
 
 
 
 
www.bbest.org.uk  

Page 23



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 2 

INTRODUCTION 
This Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by the BBEST Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum. The policies in it have been developed by the Forum over the past seven years via 
a substantial community engagement programme, and a wide variety of professional 
assistance. They have been very widely debated, including a full pre-submission 
consultation from October 1st to November 9th 2018 (see sections in this plan for outline 
details of engagement and consultation, and the ‘Consultation Statement’ for full details). It 
was then subject to SCC Consultation, and Independent Examination, and following this 
the plan has been amended where appropriate. The plan should be read in consultation 
with the BBEST Design Guide, although it does not form part of the statutory 
Neighbourhood Plan,  and is not planning policy it does contain a detailed study of the plan 
area, and provides an informal background commentary on the design influences that 
characterise the various character areas within the Neighbourhood.  Similarly, Chapter 12. 
Community Actions and Projects does not form part of the statutory Neighbourhood Plan 
and places no responsibility on bodies to finance or implement them.  
 

CONTENTS 
1.   INTRODUCTION FROM THE LORD MAYOR p 3 
2.   THE PURPOSE OF THE PLAN p 3 
3.   THE BBEST AREA p 4 
4.   THE FORUM p 6 
5.   MEMBERSHIP, EVENTS & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT p 6 
6.   THE PLAN CHAPTERS p 10 
7.   ENVIRONMENT AND GREEN SPACES [Policy EN1] p 11 
8.   SUSTAINABLE AND BALANCED COMMUNITY [Policies SBC 1-3] p 14 
9.   BROOMHILL DISTRICT CENTRE [Policy BDC 1] p 19 
10. ACTIVE TRAVEL [Policy AT 1] p 22 
11. DESIGN, DEVELOPMENT & HERITAGE MANAGEMENT  
      [Policies DDHM 1-4] p 26 
12. COMMUNITY ACTIONS AND PROJECTS p 31 
APPENDIX: EVIDENCE p 34 
APPENDIX: SHEFFIELD DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND NPPF p 36 
 
POLICIES MAP (v4) – in pdf attachment  
 
 
BBEST DESIGN GUIDE (v10) – via the BBEST website: 
VISIONS & ASPIRATIONS for the BBEST Area – via the BBEST website 
 

RESEARCH, EVIDENCE AND DOCUMENTS 
These are available publicly, or on BBEST.org.uk 
Research, evidence and documents that are not publicly available documents, because 
they were commissioned by, or provided specifically for, the NPF have an * appended in 
this document, and they are available on the website www.bbest.org.uk  
 
“I thought of the leafy district of Broomhill on the western heights of Sheffield, where 
gabled black stone houses rise above the ponticums and holly, and private cast-iron lamp-
posts light the gravelled drives. Greek, Italian, Gothic, they stand in winding tree-shaded 
roads, these handsome mansions of the Victorian industrialists who made their pile from 
steel and cutlery in the crowded mills below. They lived in what is still the prettiest suburb 
in England.” John Betjamin 1961 (see https://www.broomhillsheffield.co.uk/about.html)  

Page 24

https://www.broomhillsheffield.co.uk/about.html)1.0N


 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 3 

1.0 INTRODUCTION FROM COUNCILLOR MAGID 
LORD MAYOR OF SHEFFIELD 2018-19 
 
The Broomhill community is vibrant and diverse. Many people who live here work or study 
at the expanding universities and hospitals.  
 
The pace of change brings pressures that can threaten the character of communities and 
neighbourhoods. A group of volunteers have recognised the need for a neighbourhood 
plan to manage that change and build in community protections. They have worked 
incredibly hard to reach this point with a draft plan for your consideration and input. 
 
I hope you will recognise all their work and fully engage with this consultation process. It's 
another vital stage in the BBEST neighbourhood plan process with a community 
referendum to follow. This community initiative has my full backing, and with your 
support, the plan may now be only months away from adoption!  
 
Councillor Magid, Lord Mayor of Sheffield 2018-19 
(Cllr Magid was a member of the BBEST Steering Group from 2016-2019) 
 

 

 

 
  

 
The Lord Mayor at the BBEST ‘Countdown to the Consultation’ Forum 7/7/18 

Page 25



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 4 

2.0 THE PURPOSE OF THE PLAN 
 
Welcome to our Neighbourhood Plan, prepared by and for the people who live and work in 
the BBEST area. The Neighbourhood Planning Forum, BBEST, began over seven years 
ago, with a view to developing a common vision across the area, for those who live or 
work here, of the most important features of our neighbourhood and communities. Where 
those featured are valued, the Plan seeks to make sure they are maintained and 
enhanced, and where they are challenged the Plan seeks to reduce or ameliorate that 
challenge. It aims to promote sustainable development by encouraging improvements in 
social, economic and environmental aspects of the area. 
 
The Plan is accompanied by an informal Design Guide. This document is not a statutory 
part of the neighbourhood plan, but it contains some of the history of the area, and details 
of key characteristics of streetscapes, buildings, views, and public and green spaces. 
From the very start of the work this has been important, with much interest in the many 
listed buildings in the area, and its generally coherent, and attractive, inner urban 
environment. The majority of the area was developed during Victorian times and the 
buildings, and overall feel, represent a fine example of that period. See 11.7.2. for the 
purpose and status of the Design Guide. 
 
Meetings, consultation events, presentations, open Forum sessions, and detailed 
discussions with key individuals, businesses and organisations have regularly taken place 
over the past years to generate this plan and associated guide. However, the burden of 
detailed work inevitably falls on a relatively small number of people, and much thanks are 
due to this individual effort on behalf of the community. In addition, we could not have 
done the work without help from some excellent professionals, who have often gone above 
and beyond any contracted work when helping us: we are very grateful indeed for their 
efforts. 
 
Professor Peter Marsh 
Chair, BBEST Neighbourhood Planning Forum  

Page 26



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 5 

3.0 THE BBEST AREA 
 
3.1. Rationale 
The boundary of the Forum area was discussed and debated over the course of several 
months. It has been based upon a perceived sense of neighbourhood, and also on a 
number of critical factors about the area. These have included the designated 
conservation areas, the topography and physical constraints of the area (related in some 
large degree to sense of neighbourhood), the importance of a district centre, and the 
importance of open space in the area. 
 
3.1.2. Ward boundaries have not been ignored in the development of the proposed area 
boundary, but they have not been the most significant aspect in determining the boundary. 
Nonetheless, most of the proposed area is within Broomhill Ward (pre-enlargement), with 
a small section within Fulwood Ward.  
 
3.1.3. The ‘heart’ of the area was agreed early on as being the District Centre, which most 
residents cross each day, and many use the shops or other facilities each week. The 
shops and eating places are very important to local residents, and they provide a focus for 
the entire proposed area. They also face substantial pressures, and retailers have been 
keen to engage in planning debates to improve the functioning of the local economy.  
 
3.1.4. There is a continuous ‘spine’ road on the longest axis, running West to East and in 
different parts named Fulwood Road, Whitham Road and Western Bank; and it is crossed 
Northwest to Southeast by the A57, which is a very busy road having a substantial impact 
on the area. A shortish walk to the Centre has had a major impact in determining the area, 
with the topography making that easier (because it is flatter), along the Fulwood Road 
axis. The area is therefore lozenge shaped and longer along that ‘spine’ road. 
 
3.1.5. Most of the boundary runs along roads and much of its length follows more or less 
closely the boundaries of the Broomhill, Endcliffe and Northumberland Road Conservation 
areas. All extensions beyond these conservation areas were because, in the course of 
interesting debates, they were felt to be part of ‘our’ neighbourhood. 
 
3.1.6. There is a unity of development in the area. The major part of the Neighbourhood 
comprises buildings originally constructed as family houses. Most of these date from the 
mid to late Victorian and Edwardian periods and these, many with large gardens and 
mature trees, are the buildings that characterise much of the area. Several large, and 
numerous smaller, institutions and companies are based in the area, including hospitals, 
portions of the University of Sheffield, and independent schools as well as state schools; 
these institutions have converted a significant number of large houses for their 
organisations’ purposes and many other houses have been acquired by private landlords 
or property companies to use as Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), or to convert into 
apartments.  
 
3.1.7. The area is seriously short of green space. Over the past three decades some green 
space has been used for University residential developments and commercial housing. 
Enhancing and improving green spaces has been a local priority for many years. The area 
therefore includes at its edge the substantial green space of Weston Park.  
 
3.1.8. The detail of the boundary is on the Policies Map (‘BBEST Neighbourhood Area’). 
  

Page 27



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 6 

3.2. THE NEIGHBOURHOOD 
3.2.1. A variety of distinctive factors within our neighbourhood lie behind the plan policies. 
 
3.2.2. The historical evolution of the area, which was largely developed in the late Victorian 
and early Edwardian eras, providing a distinctive townscape, which contains a significant 
number of listed buildings. This high-quality built environment is of major value to the 
community and entails important heritage management. 
 
3.2.3. The generally high level of tree cover, mostly in private gardens, providing a 
distinctive feel to the area. The low level of public green space in the area.  
 
3.2.4. The topography of the area, with some major gradients, affords key views over the 
area and the city, and a built response to accommodate the differing levels. 
 
3.2.5. The retail centre at the heart of the area.  
 
3.2.6. The major road bisecting the area, and its retail centre, with very heavy traffic flow. 
 
3.2.7. The major institutions in the area, hospitals, university, and schools, which provide 
major amenities and employment, and generate significant movement of people and traffic 
 
3.2.8. The demography of the area, with the 16-25-year age group comprising 55% of the 
population. 
 
3.2.9. The dense occupation of the area, with over 60 people per hectare (compared to the 
Sheffield average of 15, and with neighbouring Fulwood at around 7). 
 
3.2.10. The lack of key housing types, especially new and converted accommodation of 
three bedrooms and above. 
 
3.2.11. A detailed history of the area can be found on the Broomhill Sheffield website - 
https://www.broomhillsheffield.co.uk/about.html  
 
Boundary, conservation areas, and listed buildings 

 

Page 28

https://www.broomhillsheffield.co.uk/about.html


 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 7 

4. THE FORUM 
 
4.1. The objectives of BBEST are:  

• To prepare, implement, and monitor a Neighbourhood Plan for the BBEST 
Neighbourhood area 

• To promote or improve the social, economic, and environmental well-being of the 
BBEST Neighbourhood Area 

• To encourage the goodwill and involvement of the wider community in the 
preparation, production and implementation of a Neighbourhood Plan 

• To engage as fully as possible with all community groups within the BBEST area. 
 
4.2. The Forum holds an AGM, and each year has had at least one additional full meeting. 
Numerous other meetings, working groups, development sessions, lectures, and events at 
community meetings have been held. 
 
4.3. Support from local councillors has been given throughout, with active membership on 
both Forum and Steering Group. 
 
4.4. The Steering Group is elected annually at the AGM. It has twelve members with four 
officers elected by the Group (Chair, Deputy Chair, Treasurer and Secretary). An ex officio 
post is held for the nominee of the University of Sheffield’s Students’ Union President, in 
order to make sure that the sizeable student community in the area is officially 
represented. Members of the group have come from all parts of the area, and have, over 
time, covered all age groups, and a spread of gender and ethnicity. There has been very 
active engagement of the University in the development of the Plan, and evidence has 
been commissioned or provided from a wide range of sources. 
 
4.5. Full details of engagement throughout the development period are in the BBEST 
Consultation Statement and appendices, v11. 

 
 

5. MEMBERSHIP, EVENTS & COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT  
 
The forum has over 200 members, and individuals on the Forum take responsibility to 
liaise with community groups. Attendance at the Forum has varied from the high teens to 
over 60. Around 50 events have been held to explore options, debate priorities, and 
examine the built and natural local environment. These have included arranged meetings, 
talks & posters in the Local Library, and activity stalls at the major annual Broomhill 
Festival. Newsletters have been hand delivered to every household. Meetings have been 
held with large organisations in the area, and a working group of a majority of local retail 
and food businesses has met regularly to consider all issues related to the District Centre. 
 

5.1. Key development principles of community engagement  
Eight key principles have informed all the community engagement from 2013-19 
• Building on the work of community groups and of conservation appraisals 
• Meetings with diverse attendance and lively contributions 
• Working through existing groups, but engaging in very wide publicity of emerging issues 
• Different forms of engagement events 

Page 29



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 8 

• University engagement 
• Business engagement 
• Institutional engagement 
• Professional engagement 

 
5.2. Major meetings and events 
 

2013   

 
• Initial meetings with all local neighbourhood groups:  
• Broomhill Forum,  
• Broomhill Action and Neighbourhood Group,  
• Harcourt Road Residents Group,  
• Moor Oaks Triangle,  
• Crookesmoor Road Association,  
• Sheffield University Students Union 
• December 10th 2013 - First AGM 
 
 
 

2014   

 
 

• Ten meetings of Steering Group, including University senior staff and Students Union 
President 

• Broomhill Festival Lecture ‘Visions of Broomhill’ 
• Planning workshop with LPA 
• Door to door housing survey 
• Newsletter to all houses 
• AGM – with major development focus 

 
 

Page 30



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 9 

2015   

 
 
• Six meetings of Steering Group 
• Two full Forum development and consultation meetings 
• Presentation on ‘built character and living community’  
• Consultation with Parks groups 
• Newsletter to all houses 
• Article in Green Party Newsletter to all houses 
• Activity/information stall at Broomhill Festival 
• AGM 
 

2016   
• Two meetings of Steering Group 
• Meeting with local retailers 
• Newsletter to all houses 
• Articles in Parish Church and Community Library Newsletters. 
• HMO workshop with Sheffield City Council 
• Informal review by Sheffield City Council with extensive commentary on Plan 
• Full Forum development meeting 
• AGM 
 

2017   
• Two meetings of Steering Group 
• Article in Green Party Newsletter to all houses 
• Full Forum development meeting 
• Door to door discussions with retailers 
• Informal review by Sheffield City Council with extensive commentary on Plan 
• AGM 
 

2018   
• Five meetings of Steering Group 
• Full Forum development meeting 
• Retailers group set up 
• Article in Green Party Newsletter to all houses 
• Countdown to the Consultation event, which also launched new retailers group website, 

with attendance from Mayor and leading Cabinet Members 
• Pre-submission consultation  
• AGM 
 

Page 31



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 10 

2019   

 
 
• Four meetings of Steering Group 
• Amendments to Plan in light of consultation 
• Workshops with Sheffield City Council 
• Full Forum development meeting 

 
5.3. Pre-submission consultation: strategy and enactment 
The pre-submission consultation took place in late 2018. The consultation strategy 

• built on the high levels of awareness and engagement already established, 

• was designed to be both inclusive and extensive – with different means of responding 

(email, online, on paper), 

• used SCC statutory consultee list, 

• used the Community Library as a main local information point with all key documents 

available, 

• used the website to allow easy access to all documents,  

• had posters on the community notice boards, 

• developed an easy and straightforward on-line consultation process,  

• generated advance publicity via an all-day drop in event at the Community Library ‘The 

Countdown to the Consultation’, some two months before the formal consultation, and 

had two emails to Forum members, and a third follow up. 

 

5.4. Pre-submission consultation comments 
5.4.1 In total there were 88 comments emailed and on-line, with emails from nine local 

residents, the chair of the Broomhill retail group, the University of Sheffield, and Natural 

England, and 76 on-line comments via the website comment system. 

 

5.4.2. They were overwhelmingly positive, with very strong support.  

 

5.4.2. There were documents from: Historic England; Coal Authority; Highways England; 
CycleSheffield; Broomhill Community Library/Broomhill Community Trust; DLP Planning 
Ltd.; and Sheffield City Council.  There were no statutory consultee objections. There was 
strong positive support from a major local community organisation, the Broomhill 
Community Trust, which was very welcome. All proposals and objections have been 

Page 32



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 11 

carefully analysed, and where appropriate acted on (see a summary of amendments in 
section 8 of the BBEST Consultation Statement v12). 
 
5.4.3. The very detailed analysis from SCC was very welcome, building on the helpful 
feedback received on previous versions in 2016 and 2017.  
 

5.5. Pre-submission consultation - BBEST responses 
5.5.1. We have engaged very closely with all comments and built on the SCC ones by a 

series of meetings and discussions, and two comprehensive workshops.  

 

5.5.2. Some policies in the Sustainable and Balanced Community (SBC), and Active 

Travel (AT) chapters have been removed as being outside the scope of this 

Neighbourhood Plan. It is regretted that some of the AT policies ultimately fell outside the 

scope of Neighbourhood Planning as there was particularly strong interest in them during 

the development of the Plan and during the consultation.  

 

5.5.3. The Text, analysis, and evidence has been refined. Smaller changes were made in 

other policies, building on consultation comments and engagement with council officers.  

 

5.5.4. The amendments made in the light of the consultation are tabulated in section 8 of 

the Consultation Statement v 12, which also contains full details of all comments, and 

BBEST responses.  

 

5.5.6. The amended ‘submission version’ was submitted to SCC in August 2019. 

 

 

5.6. SCC consultation and Independent Examination - BBEST 
responses - 2020 
5.6.1. The outcome of the SCC consultation which followed the BBEST one referred to 

above, was itself followed by Independent Examination in mid-late 2020. 

 

5.6.2. This Referendum version is based on the views of the Independent Examiner and 

the SCC response, with all policies following this advice. 

 

5.6.3. BBEST very much welcomed the statement from the Examiner that ‘the process and 

management of the community consultation has been exemplary’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 12 

6. THE PLAN CHAPTERS 

6.1.Early meetings debated the major themes for the Plan, and five areas, with associated 
visions for those areas, were identified by the middle of 2014, covering: the environment 
and green spaces, sustainable and balanced community, the retail centre, active travel, 
and design and management of the local heritage. These five areas form the five chapters 
of the plan, slightly modified in the course of further discussion and development. The 
objectives for each of the areas were developed and refined over the past three years, 
with policies that would address them. 

6.2 Each of the chapters outlines the vision, the plan objectives and forum aspirations, and 
then the policies to address the objectives.  As a result of the examination of the BBEST 
plan, several policies intended to address objectives were removed from the plan on the 
recommendation of the examiner because they would not be appropriate policies for a 
neighbourhood plan. The BBEST Forum consider it is important that the issues that led to 
these policies, representing issues of importance to the local community are recorded.  
These are now placed in an informal non statutory supporting document entitled ‘Visions & 
Aspirations for the BBEST area’. These are not Neighbourhood Plan policies and will not 
form part of the eventual ‘made’ plan but do note the overall plan vision and the 
Neighbourhood aspirations for achieving that vision. 

6.3 Each chapter is accompanied by relevant evidence, and models of partnership 
working. 

• Environment and Green Spaces    Policy EN1 
• Sustainable and Balanced Community   Policies SBC1-3 
• Broomhill District Centre     Policy BDC1 
• Active Travel       Policy AT1 
• Design, Development & Heritage Management  Policies DDHM1-4 
• Community Actions and Projects 

  
6.4. The area is densely built up, and it was noted with SCC at an early stage that housing 
allocation issues were not going to be part of this Neighbourhood Plan. 

6.5. The Design Guide was developed alongside the plan policies, in part by a series of 
lectures, seminars, and meetings that were focused on design, development and heritage. 
It is a non-statutory companion guide to the plan. See 11.7.2. for the purpose and status of 
the Design Guide.  

6.6. A number of projects have been proposed and promoted by the Forum, with other 
bodies responsible for taking them forward.  These projects are not subject to independent 
examination, and do not form part of the statutory neighbourhood plan or referendum and 
as such are not binding on any public or private bodies. These projects are covered in the 
last chapter. 

6.7. The evidence cited in the Plan is listed in the first appendix and notes the particular 
items which have been commissioned by, or specially prepared for, BBEST and which are 
available on the bbest.org.uk website. 

6.7. There is an accompanying Policies Map v4 (in a separate pdf) which provides details 
of: 

• Neighbourhood Area Boundary,  
• Character Areas (following those in Broomhill CA Character Area Map),  
• Improvements to Pedestrian Routes  

Page 34



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 13 

7. ENVIRONMENT AND GREEN SPACES 
 
7.1. CONTEXT 
7.1.1. The BBEST area nestles in the foothills of the Pennines, providing residents with 
soaring views of roofscapes and the city beyond. Residents are proud of their gardens and 
trees and hold them in trust for the city and the future. The BBEST area is surrounded by 
public parks but contains just two within its boundaries: Weston Park and Crookes Valley 
Park at its Eastern edge.  
 
7.1.2. Open spaces are severely limited in the centre of the area, with very little space for 
relaxation and recuperation of resident, worker, or hospital visitor and minimal spaces for 
children to play. Although Sheffield in general is well endowed with green spaces the Plan 
area is notably short of them. 
 
7.1.3. The tree cover is a signature feature of the area. The major tree planting was carried 
out in the 19th and early 20th Centuries, and their original planters would be astonished and 
delighted at the profusion of mature trees. Maintenance and development of the tree cover 
in the few public and many private spaces has been an important issue for the Forum. 
 
 

7.2. VISION 
• To maintain and enhance one of the area’s key features: its green 

environment and ecology. To maintain its leafy and green emphasis, and to 
expand the opportunities for enjoyment of green open spaces. 
 

 

7.3. PLAN OBJECTIVES & FORUM ASPIRATIONS 
Through its policies, the Plan will aim to: 
 Increase green community spaces 
 
The Forum has also expressed its aspirations in two other areas, which could not be 
enacted as neighbourhood policies: 

• Protect urban wildlife, their habitats and ecological networks 
• Maintain and enhance trees 
 

See ‘Visions and Aspirations for the BBEST Area’ for further details. 
 
 

7.4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
7.4.1. The National Policy Planning Framework (NPPF) promotes "[a]ccess to a network of 
high-quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity [which] is 
important for the health and well-being of communities” (NPPF, Paragraph 96). 
 
7.4.2. NPPF Paragraph 97 states: 

Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, 
should not be built on unless: 
a)  an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
b)  the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

Page 35



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 14 

c)  the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 
 
7.4.3. NPPF Paragraph 98 states that: “[p]lanning policies and decisions should protect 
and enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide 
better facilities for users”. 
 
 

7.5. SUPPORTING GUIDANCE AND EVIDENCE 
The policies within the Environment and Green and Open Spaces Chapter have been 
developed having regard to: 

• Sheffield City Council’s Local Plan (SC, UDP) Policy Objectives - see table in 
appendix 

• NPPF - see references in text and table in appendix 

• Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity Strategy to 2020 

• Convention on Biological Diversity strategic plan for 2011- 2020 

• Biodiversity 2020: a strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services; 2011 

• Making Space for Nature: A review of England’s Wildlife Sites and Ecological 
Network 2010 

• Natural Environment White Paper: The Natural Choice: Securing the value of 
nature; 2011 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act; 2006 

• Protecting Trees: A guide to tree preservation procedures 2012 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
Research, evidence and documents commissioned by, or provided specifically for, the 
NPF has an * appended 
 
 

7.6. OBJECTIVE: INCREASE GREEN COMMUNITY SPACES 
7.6.1. The availability of community space (taken, for the purposes of Sheffield City 
Council’s Green and Open Space Strategy 2010 -2030, to include; local parks, formal and 
informal outdoor recreation facilities, amenity spaces and natural green space) is 
increasingly recognised as being important for the health and well-being of the local 
population. The area is notably low in public green space. By protecting, promoting and 
developing local community space and local community space networks within the BBEST 
area, the Neighbourhood Plan will contribute to the well-being of residents, visitors and 
Sheffield as a whole. BBEST has been actively engaged with the Broomhill Community 
Trust to help develop the Broomhill Library Garden as an important addition to public 
green space. It has also at its Forum meetings looked throughout the area at the green 
spaces that have particular value, over time, to the local community. Following this 
detailed survey two spaces in particular were identified and surveyed.  
 
7.6.2. The first, St Marks Green, is a small green oasis, publicly accessible and well used 
by the local community. It is part of St. Marks Church, and has for a number of decades 
played a key role in annual festivals and other activities for the community. It is bounded 
by trees and is in an attractive setting of stone walls. Discussion with St. Marks has 
emphasised that they too see this as a very important local green space, and they support 
its continuing public use. 
 
7.6.3. The second is a green triangle of land just below the Western side of the Royal 
Hallamshire Hospital. It forms an important green element of an otherwise heavily built up 
section below the Hospital (the majority of which is a multi-story car park). It is the setting 

Page 36



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 15 

for bus stops and has a number of benches within it. It has been used over decades for 
quiet relaxation, and especially for coffee/lunch/tea outside for staff and patients of the 
Hospital in particular. Discussion with the Director of Estates for the Hospital Trust 
suggested that there was no specific development planned on the site, and that there is 
support for continuing public use. 
 
7.6.4.  These two spaces are designated as Local Green Spaces to protect them as local 
green areas of special importance to the local communities in the BBEST area.  These 
spaces are considered to be significant breathing spaces in an otherwise densely 
developed environment and are in accordance with NPPF paragraph 100: being in close 
proximity to the people they serve; regularly used by the community; and demonstrably 
special with particular local significance.   
 
 

EN1 LOCAL GREEN SPACE 
As identified on the Policies Map, this plan designates the following local green spaces: 

– Hallamshire Triangle 
– St Marks Green 

Development of these sites will not be supported other than in very special circumstances. 

 
 
 

Page 37



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 16 

8. SUSTAINABLE AND BALANCED COMMUNITY 

 
8.1. CONTEXT 
8.1.1. The BBEST area has a population of about 12,770 (SCC figure, Sep 2018). The 
demography of Broomhill has changed dramatically over the last 20 years The most 
significant changes are found in the variations of particular age groups with the mean age 
of Broomhill residents at 30.1 years (down from 32.6 years in 2001) and the median age 
remaining constant at 23 years.  
 
• By 2011 the 16-25-year age group comprised some 55% of the population. 
• There are 2.9 people per household as compared with 2.3 Sheffield average. 
• There are over 60 people per hectare, as compared with an average of 15 for the city, 

and with neighbouring Fulwood at around 7. 
(Demographic Changes in Broomhill Ward 1991-2011) 
 
8.1.2. Ultimately the Plan area has enduring appeal as a place of residence for a large 
percentage of Sheffield's student population, primarily by reason of the fact that most parts 
of it are within easy access of the City’s two main University Campuses. Furthermore, 
given the number and variety of large, predominantly public sector, employers within or at 
the edge of the Plan area, it also appeals to the young professional market.  
 
8.1.3. Whilst recognising that the young demographic adds to the character and vitality of 
the area and whilst acknowledging that shared housing, flats, bedsitters/studios and HMOs 
all form an important part of the area’s housing stock with many people relying on them to 
meet their housing requirements, there is concern that the concentration of Class C3C and 
Class C4 dwellings, specifically HMOs, in certain parts of the Plan Area could restrict the 
choice of housing on offer, narrowing the opportunities for home ownership and creating 
an imbalance in the wider community which is not sustainable long term. 
 

8.2. VISION 
• To achieve and maintain an appropriate balance in the profile of the 

population thus ensuring the long term sustainability of the community, so 
that babies, young children, older children, young adults, older adults and 
seniors continue to live in the area and provide the mix of population which 
maintains a wide variety of local services and social inter-action.  

• This will particularly involve the improvement of the standard of the housing 
on offer, with a particular focus on: 

   Space standards 
   Amenity 
   Density  
   Design 
   Environmental sustainability 

• These objectives apply to new housing development and to changes in the 
use/alteration/extension of the existing housing stock. 

 

8.3. PLAN OBJECTIVES & FORUM ASPIRATIONS 
Through its policies, the Plan will aim to: 

A. Safeguard the quality of student housing 
B. Increase variety of housing available to meet the needs of families and young 
professionals 

Page 38



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 17 

C. Maintain sensible density for quality of life 
The Forum has aspirations to reduce the over-concentration of HMOs in the area, which, 
at their current level, contribute strongly to a major age imbalance in the Plan area.  
 
See ‘Visions and Aspirations for the BBEST Area’ for further details. 
 
  

8.4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
8.4.1. The housing landscape both nationally and regionally is challenging, completions of 
housing construction in the Neighbourhood Plan area remain low, but house prices remain 
high in relation to local incomes. In accordance with the provisions of the NPPF, local 
authorities are required to significantly boost the supply of housing, making sure that their 
development plans meet the full objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing within their housing market area. That is “Plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.’ (NPPF, Paragraph 11). Moreover, 
NPPF, Paragraph 91 states: 

91. Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 
places which:  
a)  promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people 
who might not otherwise come into contact with each other – for example through 
mixed-use developments, strong neighbourhood centres, street layouts that allow 
for easy pedestrian and cycle connections within and between neighbourhoods, 
and active street frontages; 
 

8.4.2. In acknowledgement of the high demand for housing within the Plan Area and taking 
into consideration its distinctive townscape and the range of natural features it possesses; 
priority needs to be given to safeguarding and enhancing its areas of character. 
 
8.4.3. More broadly the Development Plan acknowledges that the scale of housing 
development within the area will be “largely defined by what can be accommodated at an 
appropriate density through infilling, windfall sites and development in district centres and 
other locations well served by public transport” – Policy CS 31 of the Core Strategy. 
 
8.4.4. Sheffield City Council has prepared a City-wide Housing Strategy for the period 
2013 to 2023 and the primary policy objectives therein are threefold: 

• To increase housing supply 

• Make the best use of existing stock (prioritising under occupancy, and expanding 
and making healthy the existing stock) and 

• Help vulnerable households to live independently 
 
8.4.5. These objectives are set against a background where the condition and quality of 
the private rented sector remains a key concern.   
 
8.4.6. BBEST is committed to working in partnership with Sheffield City Council, landlords, 
developers, the voluntary sector and others to fulfil the objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the Development Plan with a view to delivering an appropriate mix 
of housing within the Plan Area by type and tenure.  
 
8.4.7. As noted in 8.3 the Forum has a significant concern with the major age imbalance in 
the Plan area and strongly supports endeavours, such as CS41, and the Article 4 
Direction, which seek to reduce over-concentration of HMOs. 
 

Page 39



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 18 

 

8.5. SUPPORTING GUIDANCE AND EVIDENCE 
The policies in this chapter of the Neighbourhood Plan have been prepared having regard 
to: 

• Sheffield City Council’s Local Plan Policy Objectives - see table in appendix 

• NPPF - see references in text and table in appendix 

• Building for Life 12 

• South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide 2011 

• Sheffield City Council Disability Design Standards  

• Department for Communities and Local Government, Technical Housing Standards 
– nationally described space standards 2015 

• Sheffield City Council CIL and Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document  

• Housing Strategy 2013 -2023 

• New Homes Delivery Plan September 2018 - March 2023 

• Demographic changes in Broomhill Ward1991-2011* 

• Sheffield and Rotherham Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2018 

• Sheffield Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2019 
Research, evidence and documents commissioned by, or provided specifically for, the 
NPF has an * appended 

 
 

8.6. OBJECTIVE A:  SAFEGUARD THE QUALITY OF STUDENT 
HOUSING 
8.6.1 Core Strategy policy CS41 aims to help reduce concentrations of particular types of 
housing that can create problems for their neighbourhoods.  The policy establishes how 
the principle of development for purpose-built student accommodation is to be determined.  
The policy supports development of purpose-built student accommodation where it will not 
create an imbalance of (or is in an area that is not already imbalanced by) such uses. 
 
8.6.2 In conjunction with the existing Local Plan policies, support for the provision of good 
quality, well-designed purpose-built student accommodation within the area could reduce 
pressure for the conversion of existing housing stock to HMO’s and shared student 
housing. 
 
 
 

SBC1 PURPOSE BUILT STUDENT ACCOMMODATION 
STANDARDS 
To safeguard the quality of student housing, proposals for Purpose Built Student Housing 
designed to be safe, secure and to high standard of design will be supported. 
 
 

 

8.7. OBJECTIVE B: INCREASE VARIETY OF HOUSING 
AVAILABLE TO MEET THE NEEDS OF FAMILIES AND YOUNG 
PROFESSIONALS 
8.7.1 There is a lack of suitable housing within the Plan Area aimed at young professionals 
and families, which directly affects the population mix within the neighbourhood (in 

Page 40



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 19 

particular age groups – the 55% who are aged 16-25, predominantly at the younger end of 
that range - as evidenced by demographic changes see Demographic Changes in 
Broomhill Ward 1991-2011). The younger population profile reflects the profile across the 
Sheffield Urban West housing market area (in which the BBEST neighbourhood sits) more 
generally, in which 40% of the population are aged 19-29 compared to 21% citywide1. This 
very substantial difference from other neighbourhoods affects the viability of the area in a 
number of ways, including income levels, use of retail and catering, active engagement 
with neighbourhood matters, and children for the local school. 
 
8.7.2. The area is particularly short of three bed properties with the Sheffield Urban West 
housing market area having fewer two and three bedroom properties than the city average 
(57% compared to 72%), and more four and five bed properties (26% compared to 16%)2.  
Research from the BBEST Property Dataset showed that only 17% of properties had three 
bedrooms, compared with the citywide average of 45%  It is considered that this gap in the 
housing market when combined with the average housing costs, prevents/discourages a 
large and important sector of the population (particularly families and young professionals) 
from making their home in the Plan Area.  Across the city, the highest demand is for three-
bedroom properties3. 
 
8.7.3. The lack of suitable properties for families and young professionals can be helped 
by encouraging particular types of residential development. Because there are very limited 
opportunities within the Plan Area for new build development to take place, it is the case 
that the area depends heavily on the recycling of existing housing and building stock.   It is 
therefore very important make the most of any development opportunities as they arise. 
 
8.7.4. The most recent SHMA (2019) notes some under-provision of three bed properties 
in the Sheffield Urban West Housing Market Area, and to a lesser extent also a lower than 
average proportion of 2 bed properties. 
 
8.7.5. The plan is particularly keen to promote the delivery of a greater proportion of two 
and three bedroomed residential accommodation, in order to redress the current 
imbalance in that type of housing and meet housing need for the wider community. 
 
8.7.6. Local housing need would be assessed against the most up to date Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment available at the time of determining a planning application. 
 

SBC2 HOUSING TO MEET LOCAL NEEDS 
Proposals for new build residential development which meet local housing needs will be 
supported. Proposals for ten dwellings or more should comprise a range of housing types, 
including no less than 50% of dwellings with three bedrooms. The balance of such new 
development should be skewed in favour of one- and two-bedroom dwellings rather than 
dwellings with four bedrooms and above.  
 
Residential development by way of conversion will be supported which provides a range of 
sustainable dwellings types including accommodation of three bedrooms where practical, 
in addition to one- and two- bedroom dwellings. 
 

 

 
1 Sheffield and Rotherham Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2018 (SHMA), Sheffield Hallam University; 
Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research, 2019, table 5.3 Population profile by HMA 2016 
2 SHMA, table 4.28 Property size profile by HMA 2011 
3 SHMA, table 5.14 Demand by dwelling size (like and need) 

Page 41



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 20 

 

8.8 OBJECTIVE C: MAINTAIN SENSIBLE DENSITY FOR 
QUALITY OF LIFE 
8.8.1. National policy (at Section 11 of the NPPF) expects all development to make effective use 
of land. It refers to achieving appropriate densities (paragraph 122) and ensuring that 
developments make optimal use of the potential of each site. National policy (at section 12 of the 
NPPF) also deals with achieving well designed places; ensuring that developments are 
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting (paragraph 127).   
 
8.8.2. Core Strategy policy CS26 seeks to make efficient use of land for new homes; and sets out 
appropriate density ranges for different locations depending on accessibility.  It allows for densities 
outside these ranges where developments achieve good design, reflect the character of an area, 
or protect a sensitive area.  This consideration of the character of areas is recognised in Core 
Strategy policy CS31 which acknowledges that the scale of new development in the South West 
area is constrained by the need to safeguard and enhance areas of character.  
 
8.8.3. The neighbourhood area already has the second highest population density in Sheffield at 
60 persons per hectare (see ‘Demographic Changes in Broomhill Ward 1991-2011’). As a contrast 
the somewhat similar, adjoining, neighbourhood in Fulwood has a density of around 7 persons per 
hectare. In addition, given the richness in character and quality of the townscape, and noting its 
heritage, it is considered entirely appropriate that the density and scale of development within the 
Plan Area is carefully balanced against the need to make effective use of land in order to 
safeguard and enhance this local character and distinctiveness. 

 
8.8.4. This area benefits from adopted Conservation Area Appraisals in which local character and 
distinctiveness is expressed and defined.  These should be used to guide local development 
decisions on design and density within the area – see policy DDHM1. 

 
 
 

SBC3 HOUSING DENSITY 
All new residential development, including that created by conversion and/or change of 
use should respect the townscape character and be developed at a density which makes 
efficient use of land for the new homes and is in keeping with and protects the character of 
the surrounding area unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
  

Page 42



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 21 

9. BROOMHILL DISTRICT CENTRE 
 
At the heart of the Neighbourhood Plan Area is Broomhill’s vibrant district centre. As noted 
before, a short walking distance to this centre was a key part of the rationale for the 
neighbourhood boundary. 
 
The area approximately covers: 

• The length of Fulwood Road between the junction with Manchester Road and 
Crookes Road 

• The stretch of Whitham Road from its junction with Turner’s Lane to its junction with 
Crookes Road  

• The stretch of Glossop Road from its junction with Westbourne Road to its junction 
with Fulwood Road 

 
The full extent of the Centre is defined on the Policies Map.  
 
 

9.1. CONTEXT 
9.1.1. The retail area has its origins in the 19th Century and it remains a busy commercial 
centre with high footfall, containing around 70 units, of mostly modest floor area, with retail 
being the predominant land use. It also has a diverse range of restaurants, public houses 
and hot food takeaways and includes a number of leisure, education, and health uses. It is 
within easy walking distance of all parts of the Neighbourhood Plan Area. It is well served 
by public transport with strong links to outlying residential areas and the City Centre. The 
Shopping Centre is mainly occupied by independent retailers and vacancy rates are not 
that high but are growing. The recent closure of bank branches is concerning and is likely 
to have an adverse effect on a number of retail and food outlets, but it is part of a national 
trend. The Centre suffers from the extremely busy A57 road bisecting it. 
 
9.1.2. It is located within the confines of the Broomhill Conservation Area. The Broomhill 
Conservation Area Appraisal and the Broomhill Conservation Area Management Plan 
were adopted by Sheffield City Council in 2007.  Where relevant, planning applications 
should demonstrate how proposals respond to the Conservation Area Appraisal, and 
comply with the Conservation Area Management Plan which provides adopted policy 
supporting the protective measures for the District Centre. 
 
9.1.3. The public realm is not of high quality, pavements are narrow, road crossings 
compete with substantial traffic, there are many varied surfaces and they are of medium to 
low quality. Planting and greenery is poor (ECUS: Greening the Centre 2017). Overall 
pedestrians are badly served, despite the fact that the majority of those using the Centre 
arrive by foot (35%), followed by those using public transport (31%). They also seem likely 
to spend the most (Travel to Broomhill Centre 2017). The overall provision for pedestrians 
barely reaches the standard required to be comfortable (pedcomfortreport 2016), and 
there is justification for some significant improvement. 
 
9.1.4. A minority (28%) arrive by car, and this travel mode is not straightforward either, as 
parking is difficult to find, with entry to a car park above the shopping centre being 
substantially hidden, and high charges which have resulted in substantial drop off in usage 
after their introduction and (private) enforcement some years ago. On street parking is 
limited, and the spaces in front of the Shopping Centre are constructed so that they 
occupy a major land area of the centre and obstruct the pavement. Air quality is poor, and 
traffic is a dominant feature (see Active Travel section). 

Page 43



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 22 

9.1.5. Whilst the Shopping Centre is reasonably commercially successful, there is a strong 
desire to shape its operation and its physical context in a way that responds better to the 
expectations of its users, thus improving visitors’ experience of it in the long term. 
 
 

9.2. VISION 
To make Broomhill centre a destination – an interesting hub of specialist and local 
shops and eating places, all within a pleasant environment. 
 
 

9.3. PLAN OBJECTIVES & FORUM ASPIRATIONS 
Through its policies, the Plan will aim to: 
SUPPORT AND ENHANCE A VIBRANT DISTRICT CENTRE 

• Encourage economic activity and growth  

• Encourage the retention and expansion of independent retailers 

• Enhance the public realm  

• Improve the function of pedestrianized areas 

• Lift the quality of design more generally amongst the building stock 
 

The plan objectives & forum aspirations in other sections of the plan and in the Visions and 
Aspirations supporting document are also important to the centre: 

• Protect and enhance features of townscape interest and heritage significance 

• Protect and enhance areas of open space, which are considered to be of value to 
the wider community 

• Improve the environment (including air quality and noise) for visitors  
 

The Forum has also had a strong aspiration to improve the public realm around the retail 
parade building at 212-226 Fulwood Road.   
 
See ‘Visions and Aspirations for the BBEST Area’ for further details. 
 
 

9.4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
9.4.1. One of the core objectives of the NPPF is to secure sustainable economic growth 
and it places significant weight on meeting the development needs of business without 
over-burdening them with planning policy expectations. Planning policy is expected to 
address “potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate infrastructure, services or 
housing, or a poor environment” (NPPF, Paragraph 81 c) as part of a wider desire ensure 
the “vitality of town centres” (NPPF, Section 7). 
 
9.4.2. The National Planning Policy Framework expects Neighbourhood Plans to “plan 
positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local 
shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and 
places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities 
and residential environments” (NPPF, Paragraph 92 a). 
 
9.4.3. The commercial centre within the Plan Area coincides in the main with the area 
already designated a District Shopping Centre within the adopted Development Plan for 
Sheffield. Existing adopted Development Plan policy promotes sustainable retail led 
development within the Centre, and where sites are not available, on suitable sites at the 
edge of the District Shopping Centre. The designation within the UDP, and the wider 

Page 44



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 23 

objectives of the NPPF as they relate to the Retail Area will be carried forward into the new 
Local Plan. 
 
9.4.4. BBEST is committed to working in partnership with Sheffield City Council, local 
businesses, the voluntary sector and others to fulfil the objectives of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the Development Plan to develop and secure improvements to 
Broomhill District Centre and; to improve and strengthen its future viability to serve the 
every-day needs of the community. 
 
 

9.5. SUPPORTING GUIDANCE AND EVIDENCE 
The policies within the Retail Centre Chapter have been developed having regard to: 

• Sheffield City Council’s Local Plan Policy Objectives - see table in appendix 

• NPPF - see references in text and table in appendix 

• BBEST Character Assessment 2016 in Design Guide 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Appraisal 2007 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Management Proposals 2007 

• Shopper Survey - Travel to Broomhill Centre 2017*  

• Broomhill Centre Assessment of Pedestrian Comfort 2016*  
Research, evidence and documents commissioned by, or provided specifically for, the 
NPF has an * appended 
 
 

9.6. OBJECTIVE: SUPPORTING AND ENHANCING A VIBRANT 
DISTRICT CENTRE 
The policy for Broomhill Centre is designed to provide for enhanced economic activity, and 
to make the best use of the public realm around the Central Retail Precinct (which was 
developed some decades ago). 
 
 

BDC1 PROMOTING BROOMHILL CENTRE  
Development proposals within the Broomhill District Centre area will be supported where 
the criteria below are relevant to the proposal and demonstrably met by:  

• provision of an active frontage;   
• contributing to the creation of a lively and vibrant centre;   
• contributing to the mix of town centre uses; including retail, food & drink, leisure, 

commercial, office, tourism and residential;   
• including residential use on upper floors;   
• improving the public realm;  
• enhancing levels of accessibility within the District Centre;  
• maintaining independent ground floor access to the upper floors, except where a 

safe and convenient rear or side access is available or is provided as part of the 
development. 

[see Policies Map for boundaries of the Broomhill District Centre area] 
 
 

 
  

Page 45



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 24 

10. ACTIVE TRAVEL 
 
10.1. CONTEXT 
10.1.1. The A57, which traverses the Pennines on its route to and from Manchester via 
Glossop, passes through the heart of the BBEST Plan Retail Area. This strategic route 
also carries a high volume of local commuter and service traffic in the direction of Sheffield 
City Centre. All day traffic estimates provided by Sheffield City Council for the A57 (Traffic 
Data 2) show that volumes on Whitham Road (which forms part of the A57) are almost 
three times higher than those at Crosspool and almost twice as high as at the Sheffield 
City boundary. A similar pattern emerges for medium and heavy goods vehicles, with 
almost three times as many on Whitham Road as at Crosspool. Fulwood Road also feeds 
traffic into the Shopping District, principally as a commuter route from the Peak District and 
from the residential districts of Ranmoor and Fulwood. 
 
10.1.2. The area also attracts a high volume of traffic associated with the wider operation 
of the University buildings and the various hospitals and schools that are located within or 
on the edge of the Plan Area. Highways in and around the Retail Area are regularly 
backed up during the peak periods of 7.00-9.00 and 16.00-18.00 when volumes are 50% 
or more higher than outside these times. The A57 between Rivelin and the Sheffield Inner 
Ring Road is classed as the 11th most congested section of the road network in South 
Yorkshire, with an average route delay of 25 seconds per kilometre (SCR Trans Strat). 
 
10.1.3. Over 20,000 vehicles travel through the area each day (Vehicle Occupancy). 
According to Department of Transport traffic counts, the main roads through the Plan area 
carry a smaller proportion of heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) than the City’s major roads as 
a whole (2.0-2.5% compared with 5.0-6.0%) and a larger proportion of buses and coaches 
(4.0-4.5% compared with 1.0-2.0%). (Traffic Data 1; Traffic Profile; SCC Crookes). 
 
10.1.4. The result is that the character of the very heart of the Plan Area is dominated by 
traffic and the associated noise and other disturbance that accompanies it. Furthermore, 
air quality within the Shopping Centre is very poor, exceeding, often substantially, legal 
safety limits (AQS)  
 
10.1.5. Pedestrian routes are disconnected, cut through by heavily trafficked roads, 
fragmenting the sense of unity that the Shopping Centre should have with its, literally, 
central role in the neighbourhood. Inevitably ambient noise levels are high throughout the 
day and into the evening. Most street junctions are signal controlled and have been 
upgraded to include pedestrian crossings, nonetheless pedestrian welfare is very much a 
secondary consideration at present. 
 
10.1.6. In addition, the streets within the Shopping Centre are littered with signage 
designed to warn motorists and pedestrians. The combined effect of excess traffic and 
poorly organised parking undermines the attractiveness of the area. 
 
10.1.7. Despite this, students and staff of both Universities and those in local employment 
walk and cycle across the area in substantial numbers. According to University of Sheffield 
Travel Surveys, 75% of students travel to the University on foot as their “main mode of 
transport” and 4% travel by cycle. 24% of staff travel to the University on foot, and 8% by 
cycle. For students the average distance per person per day on return trips is 2.5 miles for 
walking and 4.3 miles for cycling. For staff the average distance per person per day on 
return trips is 8 miles for cycling (UoS TPS). Regarding those who use the shops and food 
outlets the most popular way to arrive is by foot (35%), followed by public transport at 31% 

Page 46



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 25 

(see Broomhill Centre chapter). Pedestrian comfort levels are only just acceptable (using 
TfL developed criteria, see Broomhill Centre chapter) and there is a need for greater space 
and better-quality provision. The substantial numbers of people on foot (of at least equal, 
and probably greater, volume to those in cars) are extremely badly served. 
 
10.1.8. There is very limited cycle way provision in the area, with only a very small (around 
400m) length of dedicated cycle path. Extending this would be very welcome, and work 
has been undertaken within the Plan to find relevant desire lines for cycle provision. This 
will be discussed with SCC. 
 
10.1.9. Debates within the Forum have indicated substantial concern about improving 
aspects of public transport to the area, including location of bus stops, provision of real 
time bus information, avoiding duplication of buses and extending services by removing 
this. In addition, major concerns exist about the parking management in the area. A full 
review of extending the controlled parking zones and reviewing their operation (for 
example the hours of use) would be very welcome but it is outside the scope of this Plan. 
 
 

10.2. VISION 
Our vision for active travel within the BBEST Neighbourhood Plan area is of a place 
where the experience of walking, cycling and outdoor life will be enhanced in order 
to provide economic, social and health benefits; the dominance of motor traffic will 
be reduced; there will be far less need to travel or commute to/through/around the 
area by car; public transport will be prioritised; air quality will improve; and traffic-
related noise will be reduced. 
 
 

10.3. PLAN OBJECTIVES & FORUM ASPIRATIONS 
Through its policies, the Plan will aim to: 

Improve pedestrian Routes 
 
The Forum also had other active travel aspirations which it has not been possible to 
incorporate as policies in the Plan. Alongside the earlier note in 10.1.9 about a desire for 
improvements in public transport, and a review of the controlled parking zones and 
system, these have been:  

• Improve cycle Routes 
• Decrease the impact of traffic 
• Improve air quality 
 

See ‘Visions and Aspirations for the BBEST Area’ for further details. 
 
 

10.4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
10.4.1. The NPPF acknowledges the need for “[s]ignificant development should be 
focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to 
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes” (NPPF, Paragraph 103). 
Moreover, “[a]ll developments that will generate significant amounts of movement should 
be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be supported by a transport 
statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be 
assessed” (NPPF, Paragraph 111). 
 
10.4.2. In accordance with this, applications for development should: 

Page 47



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 26 

a)  give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and 
with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to high 
quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other 
public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; 
b)  address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all 
modes of transport; 
c)  create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for 
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, 
and respond to local character and design standards; 
d)  allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency 
vehicles; and 
e)  be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

 
10.4.3. The Sheffield Development Plan is determined to “help manage the tensions 
between the need for mobility and choice on the one hand and those of minimising 
congestion and promoting good health on the other” – Core Strategy Chapter 10, 
Paragraph 10.1. There are six strategic transport priorities for the City as follows: 

• Promoting choice by developing alternatives to the car 

• Maximising accessibility 

• Containing congestion levels 

• Improving air quality 

• Improving road safety 

• Supporting economic objectives through demand management measures and 
sustainable travel initiatives 

 
10.4.4. The A57, which runs through the BBEST Plan Area, is considered to be a part of 
the Key Route Network of the City. Ideally congestion along this route ideally needs to be 
addressed as part of a wider programme of investment. This could and should be an 
opportunity to improve the quality of experience for pedestrians and cyclists. Sheffield City 
Council is also committed to travel demand management for the area, including the 
Broomhill Controlled Parking Zone. At present, on the evidence provided here, there is a 
clear need for pedestrian environments to be a focus of improvement with priority being 
given to routes providing access to the University of Sheffield, Museums, and the 
Hallamshire and Children’s Hospitals. 
 
10.4.5. BBEST is committed to working with Sheffield City Council, South Yorkshire 
Combined Authority, developers, the voluntary sector and the wider community in order to 
fulfil the transport objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan consistent with the wider 
objectives of the City’s Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

10.5. SUPPORTING GUIDANCE AND EVIDENCE 
• Sheffield City Council’s Local Plan Policy Objectives - see table in appendix 

• NPPF - see references in text and table in appendix 

• Traffic Profile: “Sheffield Traffic Profile for 2000 to 2013”, Department of Transport 

• SCC Crookes: Crookes Junction Traffic and Pedestrian” Counts, March 2010, 
Sheffield City Council 

• UoS TPS: “The University of Sheffield Student & Staff Travel Survey 2012”, Travel 
Plan Surveys (TPS), January 2013. 

Page 48



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 27 

• See also evidence in the Broomhill District Centre chapter (Shopper Survey - Travel 
to Broomhill Centre 2017*, & Broomhill Centre Assessment of Pedestrian Comfort 
2016*)  

Research, evidence and documents commissioned by, or provided specifically for, the 
NPF has an * appended 
 
 

10.6. OBJECTIVE: IMPROVED PEDESTRIAN ROUTES 
10.6.1. Unless access is undertaken less by car and more by sustainable means of travel, 
the attraction and success of the Plan Area will be undermined, with an adverse impact on 
its sustainability in the long term. 
 
10.6.2. The key corridor of Whitham Road carries the major traffic and pedestrian 
movement through the heart of the retail area. 
 
10.6.3. Pedestrian volumes in the University/Hospitals area are of a similar order to car 
volumes. Walking is a major means of transport in the Plan area. 
 
10.6.4. The high levels of pedestrian activity need to be further enhanced. Travel by cycle 
is relatively low at just 1% of all vehicular traffic on the main route, despite the substantial 
number of young people in the area and active University promotion of cycling. It is 
therefore imperative that we encourage increased access by both foot and cycle. Making 
walking and cycling routes continuous is fundamental to making the wider area more 
accessible.  
 
10.6.5. Whilst BBEST would like to provide substantial policies for the development of 
cycling in the area it is difficult to do so within a Neighbourhood Plan.  The Sheffield City 
Region Active Travel Implementation Plan (June 2020) incorporates and builds on the 
work undertaken to develop a Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plan (LCWIP), 
identifying key cycle desire lines and a network of active travel routes across the city 
region, and setting out where investment is needed. SCC has an approved Transport 
Strategy (March 2019) which sets out the priorities for Active Travel and the priorities for 
bringing forward cycling proposals. 
 
10.6.6. As noted walking is a very important means of movement in the area, indeed it 
may be the primary ‘commuting’ method, with many hundreds of people, including 
substantial numbers of students walking across and within the area daily.  
 
10.6.7. The Policies Map identifies the adopted public highway and public footpaths that 
comprise the main and subsidiary walking routes through the area - Public rights of way 
are important to an active walking network and should be retained.  
 
 

AT1 ACCESS AND MOVEMENT ON FOOT 
The Policies Map identifies the main walking and subsidiary walking routes, being public 
highways within the designated Plan area.  Proposed development demonstrating that it 
would cause no significant adverse impact on existing levels of safety, accessibility and 
ease of movement along the identified network will be supported. 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 28 

11. DEVELOPMENT, DESIGN AND HERITAGE 
MANAGEMENT 
 
 

11.1 CONTEXT 
The Plan Area absorbs the boundaries of three Conservation Areas; Broomhill, 
Northumberland Road and Endcliffe. There is a Conservation Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan in place for the Broomhill and Northumberland Road Conservation 
Areas. The BBEST area is rich in heritage and townscape interest, containing a high 
proportion of buildings that are considered to be of townscape merit. 
 
 

11.2. VISION 
• The area has a significant number of listed buildings, and was, in general, 

developed over a short period in Victorian times. It is mostly within 
Conservation area designation and contains many fine buildings and historic 
streetscapes within a mature green setting. Features such as boundary 
treatments, signage and lighting have a significant impact on the quality of 
these neighbourhoods. New developments or changes to the existing built 
environment have the potential to have significant impacts on the setting and 
quality of the BBEST area. Changes can be both positive and negative.  

• The key presumption is that change should at all times have a demonstrably 
positive impact on the historic setting. 

• The area has a combination of factors which make it unique and it is 
important to protect and enhance these: 

  significant views over the neighbourhood and city 
  historic streetscapes 
  green coverage and trees 
 
 

11.3. PLAN OBJECTIVES & FORUM ASPIRATIONS 
A major contribution to the preservation and enhancement of the heritage setting of 
Broomhill is through the Conservation Areas which cover the majority of the Plan area. 
Through its policies the Plan will add some cognate design principles, which will support: 
• aspects of distinctive local identity 
• a more attractive Central Retail Area 
 
An overall aspiration of the Forum is to raise awareness of the importance of the distinctive 
characteristics of the different parts of the Plan area, including heritage elements and 
important views and vistas 
 
See ‘Visions and Aspirations for the BBEST Area’ for further details. 
 
 

11.4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
11.4.1. Every effort will be made to work in partnership with Sheffield City Council, 
developers, the voluntary sector and the wider community to deliver the objectives of the 
policies within the Development, Design and Heritage Management Chapter of the Plan. 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 29 

11.5. SUPPORTING GUIDANCE AND EVIDENCE 
The policies within the Development and Conservation Chapter have been developed 
having regard to: 

• Sheffield City Council’s Local Plan Policy Objectives - see table in appendix 

• NPPF - see references in text and table in appendix 

• BBEST Design Guide v10* 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Appraisal 2007 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Management Proposals 2007 

• Sheffield’s Historic Parks and Gardens Supplementary Planning Guidance 

• ECUS Greening the Centre 2017* 

• EH Conservation areas and listed buildings 2014* 

• Research, evidence and documents commissioned by, or provided specifically for, 
the NPF has an * appended 
 

 

11.6. HERITAGE 
11.6.1. Much of the Plan Area is of heritage interest. A majority of the area is covered by 
three Conservation Area Designations (namely; Broomhill, Endcliffe and Northumberland 
Road), so that much of the townscape contained is already afforded special protection. 
The Plan Area is also home to a substantial number of designated heritage assets in the 
form of 63 listed buildings/structures  
 
11.6.2. The Forum has been keen to protect the future of, promote interest in and raise the 
visibility of our designated heritage assets. 
 
 

11.7. CHARACTER AREAS 
11.7.1. The Plan Area has been divided into eight character areas/neighbourhoods. All are 
rich in terms of their heritage (cultural and architectural); all possess townscape merit. 
Although well integrated, the character areas are varied and contain elements which are 
locally distinct.  
The Neighbourhood Plan Character Areas are identified as follows: 

• Crookes Valley 

• Hospital Quarter 

• Residential South East 

• Residential North East 

• District Centre 

• Residential North West  

• Residential South West 

• Endcliffe 
 

The boundaries are shown on the Policies Map.  
 

11.7.2. The Character areas above are identified in the BBEST Design Guide and are 
described in detail within it. The BBEST Design Guide is not a statutory part of this 
neighbourhood plan but it is intended to complement the Neighbourhood Plan by providing 
some detail behind the policies promoting good urban design and conservation. It provides 
informal background commentary on the design influences that describe the various 
character areas within the Neighbourhood Plan area and provides evidence in support of 
the relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies.  However, it is not adopted policy and where 

Page 51



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 30 

relevant, planning applications should demonstrate how proposals respond to adopted 
design guidance within relevant Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans.   
 
 

DDHM1 KEY DESIGN PRINCIPLES  
Proposals which are designed so as to protect and enhance the distinctive built, natural 
and historic characteristics of the character areas defined on the Policies Map and which 
have regard to the established wider townscape and landscape contexts, will be 
supported. 
 
Proposals will be supported which variously; 
a) conserve historic boundary walls, gate piers and paving, including sett thresholds 

constructed of local stone, or which seek to reinstate these features appropriate to 
each character area;  

b) deliver planting to enhance tree coverage with deciduous and evergreen trees, 
shrubs and boundary hedges;  

c) respect established building lines; 
d) deliver public realm enhancements.   
 
 

11.8. BROOMHILL DISTRICT CENTRE CHARACTER AREA 
11.8.1. Located at the heart of the BBEST area, the Centre is predominantly arranged 
along its two principal roads: Whitham Road/Fulwood Road and Glossop Road. The area, 
which is surrounded by institutional uses (including four hospitals, a number of schools, 
the University of Sheffield campus and Halls of Residence) is heavily used by students 
lending it a strong sense of vibrancy and vitality and is characterised by the retention of a 
large proportion of its historic building stock, largely comprising two or three storey brick or 
stone 19th Century terraces, a number of which stand out (notably the Fox and Duck public 
house on Fulwood Road and the York public house which occupies the junction of 
Fulwood Road with Glossop Road and including a distinctive terrace located on Glossop 
Road between The Mount and the Broomhill Tavern Public House).  
 
11.8.2. Notwithstanding, the quality of that section of townscape bookended by Crookes 
Road and Taptonville Road (North side) has suffered as a consequence of late 20th 
Century infill in the form of the parade/precinct, and the wider environment within the 
Centre continues to be adversely affected by the heavy flow of traffic moving through and 
visiting the area. 
 
11.8.3. Elements which affect the townscape quality and character include: 

• Poor modern infill 

• Inconsistent shopfront design 

• Vacant commercial units  

• The poor quality of the pedestrian environment 

• Parking 

• Traffic movement 
 

11.8.4. The area has a distinctive nineteenth century historic character and appearance, 
and it is important that this local distinctiveness is maintained. 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 31 

DDHM2 DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE BROOMHILL 
CENTRE CHARACTER AREA 
Development within the Centre Character Area will be expected to enhance the wider 
townscape and to support the area’s core role as a shopping area. More specifically: 
 
a. Shop fronts, including replacement shop fronts, should: 
i) respond positively to the context and architectural composition of the building as a 

whole; 
ii) respond to the overall character of the street scene;  
iii) retain existing traditional features including stall risers, transoms and pilasters;  
iv) ensure the fascia is in proportion to the shop front and the building and adjacent 

buildings and not obscure the building’s original features; 
v) incorporate transparent glazing on all windows and doors to the frontage; 
 
b. Externally mounted shutters will not be acceptable; and 
 
c. New development will be expected to range from 2 to 5 storeys in height and create a 
continuous frontage along the principal streets and be sited at the back edge of the 
pavement except in exceptional circumstances where a setback is incorporated to 
accommodate communal / public / spill out space. 
 

 

11.9. NORTH EAST AND NORTH WEST CHARACTER AREAS 
11.9.1. The North West Quarter occupies a broad area to the North of the Retail Centre. 
The North West Quarter is dominated by three parallel straight roads: Taptonville Road, 
Lawson Road and Sale Hill. These run down the hillside to Glossop Road and offer 
extensive views across the Porter Valley to Nether Edge. There is a strong character 
throughout the Quarter, dominated to a large extent by grand detached or semi-detached 
stone villas interspersed with some terraces dating from the same period. Taptonville 
Crescent is one of the highlights of the Broomhill Conservation Area, and which prompted 
John Betjeman's description of Broomhill in 1961 as the “prettiest suburb in England”. 
  
11.9.2. The North East Quarter sits between the Retail Centre and the Hospitals and 
Crookes Valley Quarters to the East, and acts as an essential link between each. Whitham 
Road forms the key artery leading into the city centre from the West and heavily used by 
both vehicular traffic and pedestrian traffic. Crookes Road is equally busy, being a key 
vehicle route connecting Broomhill and Crookes. The residential areas within the Quarter 
sit along these routes as well as in the collection of streets to either side, which 
demonstrate a range of different styles of predominantly terraced housing.  
 
11.9.3 The Design Guide supplies some background evidence for this area, it explains that 
the extent of the terraced properties in the North East Quarter of the Broomhill 
Conservation Area means that there are few areas of green ‘breathing’ space within the 
streetscene. There are two existing areas of ‘breathing’ space that also serve to protect 
the setting of buildings that are listed as ‘Buildings of Townscape Merit’ in the Broomhill 
Conservation Area Appraisal.  

Page 53



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 32 

 
 

 

DDHM 3 DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE NORTH EAST 
AND NORTH WEST CHARACTER AREAS 
Proposals that conserve or enhance the setting of the Nottingham Public House (164 
Whitham Road, S10 2SR) and Spiritualist Church (109 Whitham Road, S10 2SL) will be 
supported. 
 
 

11.10. ENDCLIFFE CHARACTER AREA 
11.10.1. Endcliffe is the largest of the character areas, occupying the very Western extent 
of the BBEST area. In large part, Endcliffe corresponds with the boundary of the Endcliffe 
Conservation Area. The residential area to the Southwest of Endcliffe is characterised by 
large detached homes set within a strong landscape. Endcliffe is also characterised by a 
series of significant recent additions of student accommodation, and the adjacent Endcliffe 
Park which forms the boundary to the South. 
 
 

DDHM 4 DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE ENDCLIFFE 
CHARACTER AREA 
Development proposals which will conserve the character of the Endcliffe Character Area 
will be supported.   
 
 
  

Setting of 
The Nottingham 
House 

Setting of the 
Spiritualist Chapel

Page 54



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 33 

12. COMMUNITY ACTIONS 
 

• In line with established Neighbourhood Planning practice, the Forum has identified 
a number of wider aims other than those directly related to the use of land. It wants 
to encourage the development of relevant ideas and actions to take these forward.  

• These community actions are not a statutory part of this neighbourhood plan and 
are not subject to independent examination or referendum, but like the Plan’s 
policies they are rooted in the community’s wishes. They will be the responsibility of 
various different bodies, some yet to be identified, but are not binding on those 
bodies. It is the Forum’s intention  that these should be given high status in funding 
decisions about Neighbourhood Portions of CIL.  

 

12.1. BOULEVARD PROJECT 
The Broomhill Centre to Sheffield University Corridor 
The busy A57 carries some 20,000 vehicles per day. Around the same number of 
pedestrians use it, or feeder streets, each day. It is a key route for access to hospitals, 
shops, and the University. It forms the ‘spine’ of the BBEST neighbourhood. It is in urgent 
need of design changes to make it a safer and more attractive place to travel along by 
foot, cycle, and bus - and to make the experience of getting to and using shops, hospitals 
or the university much more pleasant. It needs to become a Boulevard. 
 
Why Boulevard? 
Boulevards are pleasant places to spend time - on foot, on bikes, in and outside cafés, 
restaurants and shops, with substantial amounts of greenery - but they are also busy 
streets, carrying large amounts of traffic. A boulevard is not a pedestrian precinct, but it is 
a place where there’s a better relationship between motorised traffic and people wanting to 
enjoy being on the street. 
 
Vision 
A street with a real sense of place in which to walk, cycle and enjoy outdoor city life whilst 
continuing to allow vehicular movement, albeit at lower speeds, with lower pollution levels, 
and with much less detriment to the street scene.  
 
Objectives 

• To create a much-improved environment in the Broomhill shopping centre, thereby 
increasing its attractiveness to both visitors and businesses. 

• To bring air quality up to European standards in accordance with legal 
requirements. 

• To make the walk from Endcliffe to the University and points in between more 
pleasant, thereby encouraging more people to do it. 

• To make the experience of getting to and from the hospitals more pleasant. 

• To make cycling along the same route more pleasant, thereby encouraging more 
people to do it. 

• To further enhance the declared “townscape merit” of buildings identified as such within 
the Broomhill Conservation Area. 

• To create conditions in which drivers of cars, vans, lorries and buses, and also cyclists, 
concede greater priority to pedestrians seeking to move along and to cross the street 

• To decrease the number and severity of Road Traffic Accidents (RTAs). 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 34 

Partnership working 
The idea of the Boulevard forms a community action within the BBEST Neighbourhood 
Plan. Major improvements can be achieved if funding can be found as part of the City or 
South Yorkshire Combined Authority’s capital programmes, or if developments by the 
university, hospitals and others on the route take place which can contribute to the 
Boulevard - for example, by imaginative planting, uninterrupted pavements, public art, and 
a good quality of design to create attractive public spaces. 
 
Possible enhancements 
• Centred on the Whitham Road/Northumberland Road junction, significant improvements 

for cycle and pedestrian movement. 

• Improvements to the “public realm” in Broomhill shopping centre on both Fulwood and 
Glossop Roads. 

• “Gateways” announcing entry to the Boulevard at Fulwood Road (Manchester Road 
junction), Whitham Road (Weston Park/Children’s’ Hospital) and Glossop Road (the 
Mount) - through the use of carriageway narrowing, planting, the siting of public art and 
other defining features 

• Between these gateways, a zone within which: 

• the maximum permitted speed limit is 20 mph and the design speed for planning 
purposes is 15 mph 

• loading and unloading from the street is limited to hours of low pedestrian activity 

• HGV access is limited to hours of low pedestrian activity 

• buses and coaches must meet Minimum NOX emission standard (EURO VI). 

• conventional traffic signs and road markings are reduced, removed or minimised 

• zebra crossings are used across side road junctions (as proposed in Manchester), 
and where this is not possible footways are raised across them 

• turns from side road junctions are tightened in order to give priority to pedestrians 

• varied surface materials, changes of direction and/or level and the placement of 
features such as public art help to influence behaviour 

• trees and other planting are used to improve the environment and also influence the 
behaviour of drivers  

• on-street parking is removed with the exception of provision for people with disabilities 

• additional space is provided for pedestrians by widening footways and by shifting the 
line of the effective carriageway 

A map is available for desire lines for improved cycle provision, ideally full segregated 
routes are needed to provide cycle travel along or near to these desire lines. 
Additional material on the Boulevard options are in: Lintern Boulevard report*  
 
 

12.2. RESTRUCTURE CAR PARKING 
Daily commuter parking on residential roads with the Plan area places a heavy toll on local 
residents, resulting in conflict in terms of parking demand and supply, limiting access and 
affecting air quality. Visitors to the Retail Area find that parking is difficult to use and that 
what exists is poorly signed. This results in drivers circling the area searching for parking 
spaces, adding to the overall adverse impact of traffic movement in the area more 
generally. Areas at the fringes of the existing Parking Zone continue to experience major 
parking problems, Endcliffe in particular. 
 
It would be of great benefit if the existing Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) was reviewed in 
order to: 

Page 56



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 35 

• Expand the CPZ into other parts of the BBEST area. 

• Eliminate the unrestricted on-street parking that is currently available to commuters. 

• Support the policies for Housing and for the Broomhill Centre in the Neighbourhood 
Plan. 

 

12.3. BROOMHILL COMMUNITY HUB 
Broomhill Community Library is of immense value to the BBEST area. Debates throughout 
the life of the Forum have emphasised the key role the Library plays in the community. 
The development of the historic Garden would provide a vital additional green space for a 
wide range of uses, the development of the building could provide community space which 
would enable many different activities and events, and Forum meetings have identified a 
wide range of such events which would make major additions to the life and health of the 
community.  
 
Proposals for these developments are being taken forward, with the full backing of the 
Forum, by Broomhill Community Library and Broomhill Community Trust. All developments 
in the BBEST area will benefit from these proposals, and they should be considered as a 
priority for the neighbourhood portion of CIL. 
 
Some ideas from a workshop on use of the Community Hub: 
 

 
 

12.4. BANNING TO LET SIGNS 
There is substantial community support, from all sections, to ban to let signs in the area as 
has happened in other cities.  
 
Major gains would occur in the visual streetscape, crime would likely be reduced, and 
landlords would no longer incur unnecessary costs.  
 
The Plan cannot directly ensure this, and SCC needs to act via the Secretary of State. 
 
There is very strong pressure from councillors, residents, the Students’ Union, and others 
for them to do so. BBEST will continue to press hard for SCC to take this step.  

 

Page 57



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 36 

APPENDIX: EVIDENCE CITED 
 
EVIDENCE  CITED  
(NOT SPECIFICALLY COMMISSIONED BY, OR PROVIDED FOR, BBEST) 
 

Environment and Green and Open Spaces  

• Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity Strategy to 2020 

• Convention on Biological Diversity strategic plan for 2011- 2020 

• Biodiversity 2020: a strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services; 2011 

• Making Space for Nature: A review of England’s Wildlife Sites and Ecological 
Network 2010 

• Natural Environment White Paper: The Natural Choice: Securing the value of 
nature; 2011 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act; 2006 

• Protecting Trees: A guide to tree preservation procedures 2012 

• Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

• Sheffield Trees and Woodlands Strategy 2018-2033 
 
Sustainable and Balanced Community 

• Building for Life 12 

• South Yorkshire Residential Design Guide 2011 

• Sheffield City Council Disability Design Standards  

• Department for Communities and Local Government, Technical Housing Standards 
– nationally described space standards 2015 

• Sheffield City Council CIL and Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document  

• Housing Strategy 2013 -2023 

• New Homes Delivery Plan September 2018 - March 2023 

• Sheffield Strategic Housing Management Appraisals 
 

Broomhill District Centre 

• BBEST Character Assessment 2016 in Design Guide 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Appraisal 2007 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Management Proposals 2007 
 
Active Travel 

• Traffic Profile: “Sheffield Traffic Profile for 2000 to 2013”, Department of Transport 

• SCC Crookes: Crookes Junction Traffic and Pedestrian” Counts, March 2010, 
Sheffield City Council 

• UoS TPS: “The University of Sheffield Student & Staff Travel Survey 2012”, Travel 
Plan Surveys (TPS), January 2013. 

 
Development, Design and Heritage Management 

• BBEST Design Guide v10 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Appraisal 2007 

• Broomhill Conservation Area Management Proposals 2007 

• Sheffield’s Historic Parks and Gardens Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

 

Page 58



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 37 

EVIDENCE  CITED  
(SPECIFICALLY COMMISSIONED BY, OR PROVIDED FOR, BBEST & 
AVAILABLE VIA BBEST WEBSITE) 
 
Sustainable and Balanced Community 

• Demographic changes in Broomhill Ward1991-2011* 

• BBEST HMO 2016* 

• BBEST Property Dataset* 
 

Broomhill District Centre 

• Shopper Survey - Travel to Broomhill Centre 2017*  

• Broomhill Centre Assessment of Pedestrian Comfort 2016*  
 
Active Travel 

• See also evidence in the Broomhill District Centre chapter (Shopper Survey - Travel 
to Broomhill Centre 2017*, & Broomhill Centre Assessment of Pedestrian Comfort 
2016*)  

 
Development, Design and Heritage Management 

• ECUS Greening the Centre 2017* 

• EH Conservation areas and listed buildings 2014* 
 

  

Page 59



 

BBEST Plan Ref Version 38 

APPENDIX: SHEFFIELD DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND NPPF 
 

Neighbourhood Plan 
Policies 

Relevant 
Development Plan 
Policies 

Relevant paragraphs 
or chapters of the 
NPPF 

 [ ] indicates UDP policy 
may be superceded by 
CS 

 

EN1 LOCAL GREEN 
SPACE 

CS73, CS74, LR5, 
[LR8], [LR10], [LR11], 
H16.  

Paragraphs 96, 97 and 
98 and Chapter 8 

SBC1  PURPOSE 
BUILT STUDENT 
ACCOMMODATION 

CS41, CS74, H5, H10, 
H14. 

Paragraphs 11 and 91, 
and Chapter 12. 

SBC2 HOUSING TO 
MEET LOCAL NEEDS 

CS31, CS74, H10, 
H14. 

Paragraphs 11, and 91, 
and 122, and Chapter 
12. 

SBC3 HOUSING 
DENSITY 

CS31, CS74, H10, 
H14. 

Paragraphs 11, and 91 
 and 122, and Chapter 
12. 

BDC1 PROMOTING 
BROOMHILL CENTRE  

CS14, CS34, BE4, 
BE11, S4, S5, S7, S10, 
S12. 

Paragraph 92, and 
Chapter 7 

AT1 ACCESS AND 
MOVEMENT ON FOOT 

CS51, CS53, CS54, 
CS55, BE10, [T7], T8. 

Paragraph 103, and 
Paragraph 111. 

DDHM1 KEY DESIGN 
PRINCIPLES 

CS74, BE5, BE6, 
BE15, BE16, BE17, 
BE19,  BE20, H14. 

Chapter 12, and 
Chapter 16 

DDHM2  
DEVELOPMENT 
WITHIN THE 
BROOMHILL 
DISTRICT CENTRE 
CHARACTER AREA 

CS74, BE4, BE5, 
BE13, S4, S7, S11. 

Chapter 12, and 
Chapter 16 

DDHM3  
DEVELOPMENT 
WITHIN THE NORTH 
EAST AND NORTH 
WEST CHARACTER 
AREAS 

CS74, BE5, BE16, 
BE17, BE19. 

Chapter 12, and 
Chapter 16 

DDHM4 
DEVELOPMENT 
WITHIN THE 
ENDCLIFFE 
CHARACTER AREA 

CS74, BE5, BE16, 
BE17, BE19. 

Chapter 12, and 
Chapter 16 

 
 
 

Page 60



 
 

 
Report of:   Gillian Duckworth, Monitoring Officer  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:               16th June 2021  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject:    Updated Code of Conduct for Members 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:   Sarah Cottam 

Democratic Services Team Manager 
    (0114 2734025) 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary: to request that full Council adopt the updated Members Code of 
Conduct, following agreement with Audit and Standards Committee to adopt the 
LGA model code of conduct incorporating elements of the current code of 
conduct.  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommendations: that Full Council adopts the updated Members Code of 
Conduct following agreement by Audit and Standards Committee on 25th March 
2021. 
 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
 
LGA Model Code of Conduct 
 
Full Council report dated 6th January 2021 
 
 

 
Category of Report: OPEN 
 
 

 
   
 
 
 

 
Council Report 

Page 61

Agenda Item 12



Statutory and Council Policy Checklist 

 

Financial Implications 
 

NO - Cleared by: Paul Schofield 
 

Legal Implications 
 

YES - Cleared by: Andrea Simpson 
 

Equality of Opportunity Implications 

NO - Cleared by: 
 

Tackling Health Inequalities Implications 
 

NO 
 

Human rights Implications 
 

NO: 
 

Environmental and Sustainability implications 
 

NO 
 

Economic impact 
 

NO 
 

Community safety implications 
 

NO 
 

Human resources implications 
 

NO 
 

Property implications 
 

NO 
 

Area(s) affected 
 

None 
 

Relevant Cabinet Portfolio Member 
 

Councillor Julie Grocutt Cabinet Member for Governance 
 

Is the item a matter which is reserved for approval by the City Council?    

NO 
 

Press release 
 

NO 
 

Page 62



 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
  
1.1 The Local Government Association (LGA) published a new Model Code of Conduct for 

councils to consider using.   
  
1.2 The model code strengthens the best practise around bullying and harassment and use of 

social media. 
  
2.0 BACKGROUND 
  
2.1 Full Council had prior to the new Model Code being published, agreed a revised Code of 

Conduct for members at its meeting in January 2021. 
  
2.3 At the meeting in February 2021, the Audit and Standards Committee agreed a further 

revision to adopt the LGA Model Code of Conduct and incorporate some of the 
additional requirements set out in the Council’s current Code approved by full Council in 
January 2021. 
 

  
3.0 MAIN BODY OF THE REPORT 

Including Legal, Financial and all other relevant implications (if any) 
  
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
3.5 

Appended to this report is a copy of the revised code of conduct based on the LGA’s model 
code of conduct and incorporating the additional requirements as set out in the Council’s 
existing Members’ Code of Conduct.  These additional requirements are shown in italics for 
ease of reference. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
The Council has a duty under section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the authority and in 
particular to adopt a code dealing with the conduct of members and co-opted members 
when acting in that capacity. These duties must be exercised by Full Council. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
There are no significant or material financial implications relating to the adoption of the new 
Members’ Code of Conduct.  Members may require training and development which will be 
picked up through the Members’ Development Programme and the Members’ training 
budget. 
 
Equality Implications 
 
There are no equalities implications. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
That Full Council are asked to adopt the updated Members Code of Conduct following 
agreement by Audit and Standards Committee on 25th March 2021. 

  

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Sheffield City Council 

COUNCILLOR CODE OF CONDUCT 

Joint statement of Councillors 

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s 

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable 

and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct 

as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of 

councillor to be one that people aspire to.  

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting 

themselves forward to become councillors. As councillors, we represent residents, 

work to develop better services and deliver local change. The public have high 

expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local area, taking decisions fairly, 

openly, and transparently.  

We have both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by 

maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging 

behaviour which falls below expectations. Importantly, we should be able to undertake 

our role as a councillor without being intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by 

anyone, including the general public.  

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct, 

and safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

Definitions  

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted 

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is 

defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of 

the authority but who  

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;  

b) b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint 

subcommittee of the authority.  

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of 

that committee or sub-committee”. For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local 

authority” includes county councils, district councils, London borough councils, parish 

councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, 

economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and National Park authorities. 

 

Page 65



Purpose of the Code of Conduct  

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor or co-opted 

member, in modelling the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal 

check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being 

taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors or co-opted 

members, local authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out 

general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and co-opted members and 

your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the 

use of support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of 

councillor and local government. 

General principles of councillor conduct  

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, 

including ministers, civil servants, councillors, co-opted members and local authority 

officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 

Principles. Building on these principles, the following general principles have been 

developed specifically for the role of councillor and co-opted member. In accordance 

with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:  

• I act with integrity and honesty  

• I act lawfully  

• I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and  

• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 

councillor. 

In undertaking my role:  

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community  

• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person  

• I avoid conflicts of interest  

• I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and  

• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 

authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

Application of the Code of Conduct  

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor or co-opted 

member. This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity 

as a councillor or co-opted member which may include when:  

 you misuse your position as a councillor or co-opted member 

Page 66



 Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor  or co-opted 

member;  

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 at face-to-face meetings  

 at online or telephone meetings  

  in written communication  

 in verbal communication  

 in non-verbal communication  

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments.  

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all 

times when acting as a councillor or co-opted member.  

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code 

of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on 

any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are 

encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

Standards of councillor conduct  

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a councillor or co-opted member. Should your conduct fall short of 

these standards, a complaint may be made against you, which may result in action 

being taken. Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and 

how they should be followed. 

General Conduct  

1. Respect As a councillor or co-opted member:  

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.  

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority 

with respect and respect the role they play.  

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor 

or co-opted member, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, 

ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, 

subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

Page 67



In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 

and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 

councillors. In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. 

If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled 

to stop any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 

authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 

councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 

and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 

authority’s councillor officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

2.1 I do not bully any person.  

2.2 I do not harass any person.  

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person.  

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on 

at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 

communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to 

cause distress or fear in any reasonable person.  

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity 

defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 

and sexual orientation.  

Members must promote equality and inclusion by providing an environment free from 

harassment, discrimination, and victimisation and bullying and by treating people with 

respect, regardless of their age, disability, gender, race, religion/ belief, sexual 

orientation or marriage/ civil partnership status. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors and co-

opted members have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral 

Page 68



to the local authority's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision 

and public commitment to equality across public services. 

Members should be aware of the Council’s Equality Objectives 2019-22 and act in 

accordance with the Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy and Dignity and 

Respect at Work Policy. 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.  

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 

they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way 

that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, 

for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a 

report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them to act 

differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would 

prejudice their professional integrity. 

4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

4.1 I do not disclose information:  

a. given to me in confidence                                                                                                                 

b. by anyone acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless  

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

ii. I am required by law to do so;  

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is:  

 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and  

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the local authority; and  

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 

councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my 

employer or my business interests.  

Page 69



4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by 

law.  

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 

personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

5. Disrepute  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.  

As a councillor or co-opted member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of 

your community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than 

that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might 

have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may 

lower the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge 

your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or 

deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute. You are able to hold the local 

authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to constructively challenge 

and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the council whilst 

continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

6. Use of position  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 

disadvantage of myself or anyone else.  

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 

will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.  

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use 

by others:  

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and  

Page 70



b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, 

or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local 

authority or of the office to which I have been elected or appointed.  

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 

in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include:  

• office support  

• stationery  

• equipment such as phones, and computers  

• transport  

• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.  

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a Councillor or co-opted member:  

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.  

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination.  

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to 

be involved with the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings.  

8.4 I comply with any standards investigation or sanction imposed on me 

following a finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct.  

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you 

to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the 

local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the 

local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your 

Monitoring Officer. 

You must not make trivial, malicious or vexatious allegations against other 

Councillors/Officers. 

9. Interests  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

Page 71



9.1 I register and disclose my interests.  

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. You need to register your 

interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow councillors know 

which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a public 

document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also 

protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held 

accountable.  

You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an 

interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that 

a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any 

interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or 

taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and 

honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance 

is maintained.  

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If 

in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

10.Gifts and hospitality  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 

reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 

authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 

any permission, licence or other significant advantage.  

10.2 I notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any gift, benefit or 

hospitality with a value in excess of £10, or accumulatively in excess 

of £10 from the same source over the four-year term of office which 

you have been offered as a Member from any person or body other 

than the Authority within 28 days of receipt. 

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality 

that I have been offered but have refused to accept.  

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 

Page 72



presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you 

do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to 

note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with 

your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for 

guidance. 

11. Bias 

11.1 I must not place myself under any financial or other obligation to 

outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence me in 

the performance of my official duties. 

11.2 When making a decision, I consider the matter with an open mind 

and on the facts before the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 

Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which 

does not impact on your personal and/or professional life you are not prohibited from 

participating in a decision in your political role as member.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



Appendices  

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life  

The principles are:  

Selflessness  

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  

Integrity  

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 

or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 

should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 

and relationships.  

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability  

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 

and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  

Openness  

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 

lawful reasons for so doing.  

Honesty  

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership  

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 

poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Appendix B - Registering interests  

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 

you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 

categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 

described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 

2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within 

the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).  

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 

you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 

below.  

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.  

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.  

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to 

violence or intimidation.  

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest  

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 

interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 

that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 

circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which 

you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be 

considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise 

of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from 

arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 

  

Page 75



Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests  

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the 

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 

discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not 

have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests  

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 

interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in 

Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, 

you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members 

of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must 

not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in 

the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –  

a. your own financial interest or well-being;  

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; 

or  

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other 

Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2.  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain 

in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be 

applied:  

 9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:  

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 

majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 

believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest  

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion 

or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 

granted a dispensation.  

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 

interest.  

Page 76



  

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and 

you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must 

make sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence 

and nature of your interest.  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 77



Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Subject 
 

Description 

Employment, office, trade, profession 
or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. [Any unpaid directorship.] 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. This includes 
any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities 
of*) and the council — (a) under which 
goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and (b) which 
has not been fully discharged.  
 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. ‘Land’ 
excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which 
does not give the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or 
to receive income.  
 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 

Page 78



for a month or longer Corporate 
tenancies Any tenancy where (to the 
councillor’s knowledge)— (a) the 
landlord is the council; and (b) the tenant 
is a body that the councillor, or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners is a partner 
of or a director* of or has a beneficial 
interest in the securities* of.  
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— (a) that body (to the 
councillor’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the 
council; and (b) either— (i) ) the total 
nominal value of the securities* exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or (ii) if 
the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the 
councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 

provident society.  

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 

a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 

deposited with a building society.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to 
or is likely to affect:   
  
 
a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you 
are nominated or appointed by your authority  
  
 
b) any body  
 

i. exercising functions of a public nature  
ii. any body directed to charitable purposes or   
iii. one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union)  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life  

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report 

on Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any 

of the recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.  

The recommendations cover: •  

 Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when 

the Code of Conduct applies  

 The introduction of sanctions  

 An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman  

 Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012 • Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code  

 Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person  

 That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests should be abolished  

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice 

recommendations. These are:  

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and 

harassment in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and 

harassment, supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by 

such a definition.  

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring 

councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or 

malicious allegations by councillors.  

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year 

and regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations 

and neighbouring authorities.  

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors 

and the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council 

premises.  

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at 

least once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.  

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest 

test against which allegations are filtered.  

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 

Persons.  

Page 81



Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to 

undertake a formal investigation on an allegation and should be given the option to 

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss 

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.  

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of 

misconduct following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as 

soon as possible on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of 

the code engaged by the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the 

reasoning of the decision-maker, and any sanction applied.  

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible 

guidance on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the 

process for handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and 

outcomes.  

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish 

councillor towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather 

than the clerk in all but exceptional circumstances.  

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support 

and management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish 

councils within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with 

adequate training, corporate support and resources to undertake this work.  

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should 

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the 

investigation.  

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or 

which they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of 

their relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities 

should abide by the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas and 

minutes and annual reports in an accessible place.  

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or 

group whips to discuss standards issues.  

  

  

 

 

 

Page 82



Appendix D - LIST OF POLICIES 

 

 Sheffield City Council Electronic Communications Policy 

 

 Members’ ICT Usage Policy 

 

 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy  

 

 Sheffield City Council Equality Objectives 2019-22 

 

 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	10 The Making of Broomhill, Broomfield, Endcliffe, Somerfield and Tapton (BBEST) Neighbourhood Plan
	BBEST NP  - Referendum  Version March 2021

	12 Updated Code Of Conduct For Members
	SCC Model Members' Code of Conduct -Final


